

## **ASSESSMENT CENTER<sup>SM</sup>**

# **USER MANUAL**

Version 9.6

#### **COPYRIGHT NOTICE**

Assessment Center<sup>SM</sup> User Manual is © 2007-2014 David Cella, Ph.D., Richard Gershon, Ph.D., Michael Bass, M.S. & Nan Rothrock, Ph.D.

### **Table of Contents**

Registration	4
Studies	8
MyStudies List	8
Create a Study	8
Study Team	10
Instruments	12
Add an Instrument/Battery	12
View Statistics Pages	15
Publicly Available Instruments	16
Create an Instrument	17
Create an Item	19
Item Response Types	20
Item Translation	22
Item History	25
Instrument Export	26
Exclude an Instrument or Item	27
Establish Instrument Order	28
Instrument Customization	28
Item Order	28
Branching	29
Templates	30
CAT (IRT) Parameters	32
CAT/ Short Form No Duplicates Engine	35
Instrument Preview	36
Add Statistics	37
Instrument Terms of Use	39
Instrument PDFs	40
Making Instruments Publicly Available	40
Set-up	41
Language	41
Basic Study Set-up	42
Advanced Study Set-up	43
Create Multiple Study Arms	43
Create Multiple Assessments	45
Modify Assessment Schedule	46
Assign Instruments to Study Arms and Assessments	48
Instrument Order	49
Identifying Clinician-Rated Instruments	50
Avoiding Redundant Items	51
Add Consent Forms	52
Registration	53
Assemble	55

Launch	59
Study-Specific Data Collection Website	60
Administration	61
Accrual	61
Participant Registration	62
Link Participant Data	68
Assessment Schedule	69
Participant Reports	70
Researcher Reports	71
Study Data	73
Data Entry	73
Response Tracking	74
Export Field Descriptions	75
Pivot Data Export	75
Protected Health Information (PHI)	77
Help	77
Requirement Questions	77
Copyright and Terms of Use	78
Security	

#### What Is Assessment Center?

Assessment Center is a free, online research management tool. It enables researchers to create study-specific websites for capturing participant data securely. Studies can include measures within the Assessment Center library as well as custom instruments created or entered by the researcher. PROMIS instruments (short forms, CATs, profiles) are a central feature of the instrument library within Assessment Center. Any PROMIS measure can be downloaded for administration on paper or be included in an online study. Detailed statistical information and development history about PROMIS items and instruments is available for review.

Assessment Center enables customization of item or instruments (e.g., format, randomization, skip patterns), realtime scoring of CATs, storage of protected health information in a separate, secure database, automated accrual reports, real-time data export, graphing of individual PROMIS CAT or Profile scores, and ability to capture endorsement of online consent forms among many other features.

#### **SPONSORS**

PROMIS	<u>Neuro-QOL</u>	NIH TOOLBOX
http://www.nihpromis.org	http://www.neuroqol.org	http://www.nihtoolbox.org

#### Registration

#### How do I register?

Before you can work within the Assessment Center, you must register. This includes setting up a Login and password, as well as providing other information regarding your institution, how to contact you, etc. and agreeing to Assessment Center Terms and Conditions.

To register yourself as a new user, click on the Register New User link on the Assessment Center homepage: <u>http://assessmentcenter.net/</u>. Your password must be at least six characters. You may use any combination of letters, numbers, or special characters to create a password.

To complete the registration process, you must log into Assessment Center. Once you have created a registration record, enter your Login and password on the homepage and click Continue. After you have logged in at least once, your name will appear on the Assessment Center user list and you may be included as a team member on any applicable Assessment Center study.

#### **Register New User**

- 1. Click Register New User Link
- 2. Complete all required registration fields
- 3. Click Register button.
- 4. Navigate to Assessment Center homepage
- 5. Enter Login and password
- 6. Click Continue

Assessn	nent Center <sup>™</sup> <sup>Login</sup> Passwo	rd Continue Forgot Passwor
sources Instrument Library Scoring Manuals	WHAT IS ASSESSMENT CENTER <sup>SM</sup> Assessment Center <sup>SM</sup> is a free, online data collection tool that enables researchers to create study-specific websites for	Demonstration CAT Try out a PROMIS Computerized Adaptive Test and get an instant score report. CATs include Emotional, Physical, and Social
Workshops Publications Presentations	capturing participant data securely online. Studies can include measures within the Assessment Center library as well as custom instruments entered by the researche The instrument library includes self- and proxy-report short forms, computerized adaptive tests (CATs), and batteries or prof from: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Quality of Life in Neurological Diseases (Neuro-QOL)	Request PDFs of PROMIS Short Forms
User Manuals Glossary Terms and Conditions EAQ Release History Usage Statistics	<ul> <li>NH rotioox</li> <li>Among other important features, Assessment Center also enables:</li> <li>Downloading library instruments for administration on paper</li> <li>Customization of items or instruments (e.g., format, randomization, skip patterns)</li> <li>Real-time scoring of CATs and short forms</li> <li>Storage of protected health information (PHI) in a separate, secure database</li> <li>Automated accrual reports</li> <li>Real-time data export</li> <li>Ability to capture endorsement of online consent forms</li> </ul>	Sponsors PROMIS Neuro-OOL NIH Toolbox Studies of Interest
About Us <u>Video Tutorials</u> p@assessmentcenter.net p Line: 877-283-0596 2007-2013 if Calls DF D	<ul> <li>ANNOUNCEMENTS</li> <li>Additional PROMIS Instruments now available in Spanish: See the Instrument Library link at left to see what PROM instruments are available in Spanish.</li> <li>New PROMIS Computer Adaptive Tests for Upper Extremity Function and Mobility: Physical Function can now be assessed specifically for upper or lower body function. The full Physical Function CAT remains available.</li> <li>Updated versions of some PROMIS Instruments: Some PROMIS item banks have had minor modifications (typically removal of 1-2 items).</li> </ul>	PROsetta Stone Assessment Center reserves the right to hav regular scheduled maintenance windows. Weekly maintenance may be performed on Sunday mornings from 7am to 9am CST. Du this time, Assessment Center may be unavailable. We apologize for any inconvenience this may have. If you have an questions, please contact us at help@assessmentcenter.net

#### **Required Fields** Any field with an asterisk (\*)means it's required and you must enter valid information.

Several registration elements are required to be unique across Assessment Center, i.e., the registration elements cannot already exist in Assessment Center. These elements include Login and the combination of last name, first name and institution. If another user has already registered with the same combination of last name, first name and institution, you must change at least one of these three registration elements.

		SM
ssess	ment C	enter
Dedictration stop	1. Diasco complete	fields below
Keyisti attori step	1. Flease complete	
Login*		Save Cancel
Password*		-
Re-enter Password*		
Title		
First Name*		]
Last Name*		
Institution*		
Email*		-
Re-enter Email*		
Phone		
Mailing Address		
City		
State/Province	Please Select 🔹	
Country		
Postal Code		
Single Sign On ID		

You are required to agree to the Assessment Center Terms and Conditions. The terms and conditions will appear in a pop-up window once you have clicked Save on the User Registration page. You will want to review the entire document and then click on the Accept button to move forward. The Assessment Center Terms and Conditions address issues related to software security, use and copyrights. You will also be required to accept study specific terms and conditions within the application as they relate to certain publicly available instruments.

Asses	ssment Center	
User Registra	ASSESSMENT CENTER TERMS AND CONDITIONS	
User ID*	Last Updated 1/21/2011	a
Passaord*	You understand and agree that the services that Northwestern University - Department of Medical Social Sciences (NU-MSS) provides to you through the Assessment Center websites are subject to the following Terms and Conditions (TAC). NU-MSS	
Re-entier Passau Title	reserves the right to update the TAC at any time. Changes in the TAC will apply to new users and to new projects created by existing users after these changes are posted. The most current version of the TAC can be reviewed by clicking on the "Terms and Conditions" hypertacting link located on the Assessment Center Home name.	
First Name*	DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES.	
Last Name*	Assessment Center provides you with access to a variety of resources, including survey measures, study administration, data	
Email*	management, and storage of statistical analysis results (collectively, the Services ). The Services, including any updates, enhancements, and/or new features are subject to the TAC, and your use of the Services constitutes acceptance of all terms and conditions set forth in the TAC.	
Phone	PRIVACY AND PROTECTION OF PERSONAL INFORMATION.	
Hailing Address	Accept	•
State/Province	Please Select	

#### What if I do not have a Login?

If you are a first-time visitor to Assessment Center and do not have a Login, click on the Register New User link on the Assessment Center homepage found at <u>www.assessmentcenter.net</u>. Then, complete required information.

#### What if I forgot my Login?

If you have a Login but cannot remember it, contact the Assessment Center Administrator:

Email: help@assessmentcenter.net

Assessment Center support line: 1-877-283-0596

#### What if I forgot my password?

If you remember your Login but not your password, enter your Login and click on the Forgot Password link. Assessment Center will automatically email your password to you at the address currently on file in your Login.

Assessn	nent Center <sup>™</sup>	Login Password	Continue	<u>Register New User</u> <u>Forgot Password</u>
Resources         Instrument Library         Scoring Manuals         Workshops         Publications         Presentations         User Manual         Terms and Conditions         FAQ	WHAT IS ASSESSMENT CENTER <sup>SM</sup> Assessment Center <sup>SM</sup> is a free, online research management tool. It enables researchers to create st websites for capturing participant data securely. Studies can include measures within the Assessment as well as custom instruments created or entered by the researcher. PROMIS instruments (short forms profiles) are a central feature of the instrument library within Assessment Center. Any PROMIS measure downloaded for administration on paper or be included in an online study. Detailed statistical informat development history about PROMIS items and instruments is available for review. Assessment Center enables customization of items or instruments (e.g., format, randomization, skip p time scoring of CATs, storage of protected health information in a separate, secure database, automal reports, real-time data export, graphing of individual CAT or Profile scores, and ability to capture endo online consent forms among many other features.	cudy-specific Center library s, CATs, re can be ion and atterns), real- ted accrual rsement of	Demonstration CAT Try out a PROMIS Compu Adaptive Test and get an score report. CATs inclu Emotional, Physical, and Health. Click here to begi Sponsors PROMIS Neuro-QOL NIH Toolbox	terized instant de Social n.
Release History Usage Statistics About Us Video Tutorials Contact Us help@assessmentcenter.net Help Line: 877-283-0596 Support Hours: 9:00am - 5:00pm CST Monday - Friday	ANNOUNCEMENTS PROMIS and Assessment Center Workshop in Chicago, February 17, 2012 Learn more about PROMIS, item response theory, computerized adaptive testing, and Assessment Cenday workshop in downtown Chicago on Friday, February 17, 2012. For more information, click on the Whyperlink to the left. New Feature: Setup and administer assessments in English and Spanish. A researcher can creat allow a participant to choose to view instruments in English or Spanish. The researcher is responsible Spanish versions of instruments. Additional features (consent, registration) will be enabled in Spanish release. Future development will enable data collection in other languages.	nter at a full Vorkshop te a study and for uploading in the next	Assessment Center rese egular scheduled mainte Veekly maintenance ma Sunday momings from 7 his time, Assessment C nravailable. We apologiz nconvenience this may f uestions, please conta telp@assessmentcent	nves the right to have enance windows. y be performed on am to 9am CST. During enter may be te for any have. If you have any t us at er.net

#### How could I quickly access instrument PDFs?

A subset of PROMIS instrument PDFs are available from a button on the Assessment Center homepage. Click the Request PROMIS PDFs button to initiate the process of downloading PDFs. A short registration and acceptance of PROMIS Terms & Conditions is required prior to obtaining the PDFs. An email will be sent to the address provided containing a link to a zip file from which the instrument PDFs may be accessed.

Login

Password

### Assessment Center

<u>Resources</u> <u>Instrument Library</u>	WHAT IS ASSESSMENT CENTER <sup>SM</sup>	Demonstration CAT Try out a PROMIS Computerized Adaptive Test and get an instant score report. CATs include
Scoring Manuals	Assessment Center <sup>SM</sup> is a free, online data collection tool that enables researchers to create study-specific websites for capturing participant data securely online.	Emotional, Physical, and Social Health. Click here to begin.
Workshops Publications	Studies can include measures within the Assessment Center library as well as custom instruments entered by the researcher. The instrument library includes self- and proxy-report short forms, computerized adaptive tests (CATs), and batteries or profiles from:	Request PDFs of
<u>Presentations</u> <u>User Manuals</u>	<ul> <li>Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS)</li> <li>Quality of Life in Neurological Diseases (Neuro-QOL)</li> <li>NIH Toolbox</li> </ul>	PROMIS Short Forms
<u>Glossarv</u>	Among other important features, Assessment Center also enables:	<u>Sponsors</u>
Terms and Conditions FAQ Release History	<ul> <li>Downloading library instruments for administration on paper</li> <li>Customization of items or instruments (e.g., format, randomization, skip patterns)</li> <li>Real-time scoring of CATs and short forms</li> <li>Storage of protected health information (PHI) in a separate, secure database</li> <li>Automated accrual reports</li> <li>Real-time data export</li> <li>Ability to capture and reports</li> </ul>	<u>PROMIS</u> <u>Neuro-QOL</u> <u>NIH Toolbox</u>
Usage Statistics		Studies of Interest PROsetta Stone
About Us Video Tutorials Contact Us help @assessmentcenter.net Help Line: 877-283-0596 © 2007-2013 David Cella, Ph.D.,	<ul> <li>ANNOUNCEMENTS</li> <li>Additional PROMIS Instruments now available in Spanish: See the Instrument Library link at left to see what PROMIS instruments are available in Spanish.</li> <li>New PROMIS Computer Adaptive Tests for Upper Extremity Function and Mobility: Physical Function can now be assessed specifically for upper or lower body function. The full Physical Function CAT remains available.</li> <li>Updated versions of some PROMIS Instruments: Some PROMIS item banks have had minor modifications (typically removal of 1-2 items).</li> </ul>	Assessment Center reserves the right to have regular scheduled maintenance windows. Weekly maintenance may be performed on Sunday mornings from 7am to 9am CST. During this time, Assessment Center may be unavailable. We apologize for any inconvenience this may have. If you have any questions, please contact us at help@assessmentcenter.net

Register New User

Forgot Password

Continue

Alternatively, you may log into Assessment Center' zip files of PROMIS Instrument PDFs are available from the PDF link in the upper right hand corner of the application. This provides quick access to PROMIS instruments without having to navigate further into Assessment Center. You must agree to the terms and conditions in order to access the PROMIS instrument zip files.

Ass	essment Cente	er							
Studies	Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration				PDFs /	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
					Current	Study:	AC User Ma	nual_E	xample
DROM									
PROM	IS PDFS								
Below are P	ROMIS Instruments in PDF format. Prior to downloading,	you must accept the terms	s of use. Click	c on ©, read the terms of use, and click agree to accept.					
Study	Document	Date Published Ter	ms of Use						
PROMIS	PROMIS Adult Item Banks	02/13/2011	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Adult Short Forms	02/13/2011	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Cancer Item Banks	03/22/2012	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Adult Profile 29,43,57	04/16/2009	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Pediatric Profile 25, 37, 49	04/16/2011	C	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Pediatric Short Forms	06/12/2009	C	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Sexual Function Profiles	06/20/2012	C	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Parent Proxy Item Banks and Short Forms	07/07/2011	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Pediatric Item Banks	09/09/2011	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Adult Profile Short Forms Investigator	09/26/2010	C	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Adult Profile Short Forms Participant	09/26/2010	C	Endorsed 01/10/2013					
PROMIS	PROMIS Sexual Function User Manual	10/19/2011	©	Endorsed 01/10/2013					

### **Studies**

#### **MyStudies List**

The first screen you access in Assessment Center will be the Study List page within the Studies tab. Note that you may have multiple studies and name them whatever you wish. In the MyStudies list, you will see studies which you have created and studies in which you have been identified as a team member. The MyStudies list first organizes your studies by the most recently accessed, and then in alphabetical order. Select any study from this list by clicking the study name hyperlink. The system will default the current study to the last study you worked on in Assessment Center.

•	Name: name of the study
•	Created By: who created the study and when
•	Properties: Name, Description and Study Status
•	Team: Other users you designate as part of your study

#### **Create a Study**

#### Why do I need to create a Study?

The structure of Assessment Center is based around studies. All research activities conducted within Assessment Center are nested under a study. This enables users to keep research activities separate and move from the various stages of research easily, i.e. instrument selection to data collection.

To create a new Study, you must click on the Create New Study button and fill out the Study Properties page. Study Names must be unique across Assessment Center.

#### **Create New Study**

- 1. Click Create New Study button to generate a blank Study Properties page
- 2. Complete Study Properties criteria
- 3. Click Save button
- 4. Confirm new study has been established

Assessment Center				
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs Admin My Account Help Log	gout
			Current Study: PROI	MIS
Study List (PROMIS)				
Study List				
To get started, please select an existing study or create a new one. Then continu	ue work in the system by selecting from the tabs above.			
Create New Study				
To select, click on study name:			Hide Archived Studies	
My Studies				
Name	Created By			
PROMIS	Hanrahan, Rachel (7/3/2007)	Properties 1 1	Team	
1st time Practice	ALDERSON, JETTIE (7/17/2009)	<b>Properties</b>	Team	
6723 Sat with Social Roles Profile 29	Hanrahan, Rachel (7/17/2013)	Properties 1	Team	
6916 ProxyDepSansLocal	Hanrahan, Rachel (7/19/2013)	Properties	Team	

#### How many studies should I create?

Assessment Center will allow you to administer instruments from its library as well as create your own instruments. If you have a number of instruments to create, we suggest making a "master" study in which you will create and manage all of your custom study instruments. This study will not be launched as it is not intended to be used in data collection. Instead, it is a workspace within Assessment Center to maintain instruments, create new instruments and modify existing instruments.

When your custom instruments are finalized and you wish to add instruments from the master study to other studies access the Instrument Properties page and change the Status field from Under Development to Administered. Then, you can add these custom instruments to any other study.

#### Why would I need to break up my project into multiple studies within Assessment Center?

You may find that you need to have multiple data collection websites (and therefore Assessment Center studies) for your research plan. This happens if you need to administer different consent forms to different participants. For example, you may have one Assessment Center study with a Lombardi Cancer Center consent form and a second Assessment Center study that is identical in content except that it has a Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center consent form.

You may also want different URLs if participants are self-registering, but need to receive different instruments. For example, one Assessment Center URL may be advertised on a breast cancer support website for a study that includes both global and breast cancer-specific measures but a different Assessment Center URL may be advertised on a prostate cancer website for a study that contains the global and prostate cancer-specific instruments.

#### What should I do when I have completed a study?

If your data collection and export are complete, you have the option to Archive a study. You should only select this status if all work within Assessment Center is complete. Archived studies remain in Assessment Center for historical review, although you do have the option to hide Archived studies.



#### Archive Study

- 1. Find existing study
- 2. Select Properties link
- 3. Mark Study Status to Archived

Assessment Center <sup>®</sup>			
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs Admin	My Account Help	Logout
	Current Study	AC User Manual	Example
Study List (AC User Manual Example) >> Study Properties			
Study Properties			
Name of Study* AC User Manual_Exam Save Back			
Description* AC User Manual_Example			
Study Status*			
O Archived			
(*) fields are required.			

#### **Study Team**

#### How do I determine my study team?

You may want to add other Assessment Center users to your study team. Adding others to a study team will enable these users to view your study and, depending on the roles you assign them, conduct various study-related tasks, e.g. pick instruments or export data. It is important to carefully consider who should be added to your study and what roles, i.e. permissions, these users should be assigned. All team members will need to have registered and logged into Assessment Center at least once before they may be added to your team.

Designate which team members you want to be part of your study, as well as their roles, by first selecting the Team hyperlink from the Studies page. The All Users list box on the left of the Study Team page lists the names of all users across all institutions registered in Assessment Center. To add one of these users to your study, click on that person's name, then click the right arrow button. The user will be moved from the All Users box to the Team Members for Current Study box.

#### **Assign Team Members to Study**

- 1. Click Team link
- 2. Highlight desired team member's name
- 3. Use arrows to add member to Team
- 4. Assign member appropriate permissions by checking role boxes, repeat if necessary

Assessment Center					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs Admi	n My Account Hel	p Logout
			Current Stud	ly: AC User Manual	Example
Study List (AC User Manual_Example)					
Study List					
To get started, please select an existing study or create a new one. Then continu	e work in the system by selecting from the tabs above.				
Create New Study					
To select, click on study name:			🔲 Hid	e Archived Studies	
My Studies					
Name	Created By				
AC User Manual Example	Hanrahan, Rachel (4/7/2014)	Properties 1	<u>Team</u>		
6723 Sat with Social Roles Profile 29		<b>Properties</b>	Team		
6916 ProxyDepSansLocal	Hanrahan, Rachel (7/19/2013)	<u>Properties</u>	Team		
6916 Score Ver AnxPeds DepPeds Proxy	Hanrahan, Rachel (7/19/2013)	Properties	<u>Team</u>		

#### Who can see my work on this study, in particular participants' data?

Team members will be able to view information in your study, based on their roles. Assessment Center users that are not part of the study team will not have access to any study information or participant data. You may want to click on the Team feature to ensure the team role assignments are appropriate. New team members are automatically assigned the role of Associate; this role has read-only access to study elements. To reassign roles, select a team member's name, and then check the Role box(s) that best identifies their responsibilities within the study.

The only roles that will be able to view participants' data and personal health information (PHI) are Study Administrator, Study Participant Administrator, Study Data Entry Administrator, and Data & Statistics Administrator. It is important to be very thoughtful when assigning these roles. Only the Study Data Entry Administrator may edit participant data while only the Data & Statistics Administrator may export raw data files.

You can check more than one Role box for your team members, in any combination that is useful to you. Each role has very specific rights. For example, some roles allow a team member to modify items whereas some roles allow a team member to manage participant data. It is likely that you will assign team members to multiple roles unless you have a very large team with individuals holding narrow responsibilities.

#### **Team Roles**

- Study Administrator: Creates studies and manages the team; may view participant data
- Instrument/Item Administrator: Creates instruments; adds instruments to study; enters set-up elements
- Study Participant Administrator: Recruits participants; manages study; may view participant data
- Study Data Entry Administrator: Enters and/or edits study participant responses
- Data + Statistics Administrator: Exports data for statistical analysis
- Associate: Read-only access (no read access to participant data and PHI)

#### What is my role as the creator of a study?

The creator of a study is defaulted to the role of Study Administrator. This role may not enter or edit participant-level data and export datasets. If the Study Administrator needs all permissions within AC, click on the Team hyperlink, highlight the name and check all boxes under Roles.

#### How do I remove people from my study team?

To remove a team member from your study, click the person's name, and then click the left arrow button. Assessment Center removes the name from the Team Members for Current Study box.

Assessment	<b>Center</b> <sup>™</sup>	
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble	Administration	PDFs Admin MyAccount Help Logout
		Current Study: AC User Manual_Example
Study List (AC User Manual Example) >> Stud	ly Team	
Study Team 1. Identify the members of your team by selv 2. Highlight a team member's name from the	ecting their names and using the arrow keys to move their n list, then select the role(s) they hold for this study other tha	ames to the Team Members for Current Study box. an Associate (read only).
All Users	Team Members for Current Study	Roles
123, login - NU	Hanrahan, Rachel - Northwestern University	🕑 Study Administrator (Create studies + manage team)
ABAJA, CHANTE -		Instrument/Item Administrator (Create + change instruments; manage study set-up)
ABAR, TITUS -		Study Participant Administrator (Recruit; manage demographics)           Study Data Entry Administrator (Enter/Edit study participant responses)
ABATE, ERVIN - ABATO, JERRELL -		Data + Statistics Administrator (Export data for statistical analysis)
ABBOUD, HORACIO - ABDELRAHMAN, NELLA - Abel, Rebekab - Northwestern University		Associate (Default; read-only access)
Aber, Reberan - Northwestern Oniversity		

#### Instruments

#### How do I view my study Instruments?

All instruments selected for use in a study are displayed on the Study Content page, the default page in the Instruments tab. From the Study Content page, users can add instruments to their study from the Instrument Library and initiate the creation of new instruments.

#### Add an Instrument/Battery

#### How do I add an existing instrument to my study?

Access the instrument library by clicking the Add button on the Study Content page. You will be navigated to the Add an Instrument page. The page defaults to display all instruments designated as public in the Assessment Center library. You may review and select instruments from this list or you may use the search criteria to target results. Assessment Center houses instruments (e.g., a depression short form) and batteries (collection of instruments). NIH Toolbox has batteries for Emotion, Motor, Cognition, and Sensation. On the Add an Instrument page, you will first need to decide if you want to search for instruments (default) or batteries. At the top of the page are three drop lists that enable you to customize a search. Make a selection and click on the Show Results button to view your search results. Instruments with a status of Administered or Public are eligible for inclusion. Instruments with a status of Under Development or Locked will not appear in the search results. If you would like to use NIH Toolbox batteries or instruments in a study, you must request access via nihtoolbox.org.

As:	sessment C	ente	SM C			
Studies	Instruments Set-up Assemble A	dministration			PDFs Admir	n My Account Help Logou
					Current Stud	y: AC User Manual_Example
Study Co	ontent (AC User Manual_Example) >> Add	an Instrument				
Add ar	n Instrument					
<ul> <li>Instru</li> <li>Batte</li> <li>Study:</li> <li>All Publi</li> <li>Search</li> <li>Add to</li> </ul>	iment iry Results Study	Type All	e:	Domain: All	Ţ	Show Results
Select	Name	Administration Study	Туре	Domain		Terms of Use
	Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - Ability to Part. in SRA	Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Social Function, Ability to Participate in Social Roles/Activities	<u>Statistics</u>	© 🔁
	Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - AC - Executive Function	Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Applied Cognition, Executive Function	<u>Statistics</u>	© 🔁

#### **Instrument Search Drop lists**

- Study: The default is All Public instruments. You can also search studies in which you are team member.
- **Type:** Choose from Item Bank/CAT (Computer Adaptive Testing), Short Form, or All (default).
- Domain: Choose from instrument domains (e.g. Fatigue, Pain). To search multiple domains use default (All).

To select an instrument/battery for inclusion in your study, check the box next to each applicable instrument/battery. You may select multiple instruments/batteries. After you have made your selections, click on the Add to Study button at the top or bottom of the results list. A confirmation message indicating that your selections have been added to your study will appear at the top of the screen. The Select box is disabled for all instruments/batteries already included in your study so that it cannot be added a second time. A single instrument/battery may, however, be administered at multiple time points within a given study.

#### Add an Instrument to Study Content

- 1. Select Instrument or Battery
- 2. Select Study, Type & Domain from drop lists
- 3. Click Show Results button
- 4. Select an Instrument/Battery by checking box
- 5. Click Add to Study button

#### How will I know which Instruments to select?

Review the search results to determine which instrument(s) would suit your study. The search results have information relating to the instrument and its items that will help you determine if you would like to include the instrument in your study.

#### **Instrument Elements in Search Results**

- Instrument name
- Original study from which the instrument was created
- Instrument type classification
- Instrument domain classification
- Instrument Statistics page hyperlink
- Instrument Terms of Use, where applicable
- Instrument PDF, where applicable

#### Are additional instruments required when using NIH Toolbox instruments/batteries?

All NIH Toolbox instruments were normed by level of education. Therefore, when any NIH Toolbox battery or instrument is added to your study, an education instrument will automatically be included. The education instrument **MUST** be administered prior to the NIH Toolbox instruments in order for accurate scoring to occur. For example, in language tests, education level determines where to begin the presentation of items. For children under the age of 18, a second education instrument about parental education is included. Parental education was used in norming for this age group.

Additionally, some instruments (Cognition, Motor) were normed for use of one's dominant hand. Depending on the battery or instrument, a handedness instrument may be included automatically. This instrument includes a series of questions (e.g., what hand is used to write, to throw a ball) if the respondent doesn't know the dominant hand. The handedness instrument should be administered prior to the NIH Toolbox instruments. If you are selecting individual NIH Toolbox instruments rather than using an entire battery, Assessment Center will automatically include the education and handedness instruments where needed.

Finally, a couple registration questions (e.g. Age) are also added to your study when you opt to use certain Toolbox instrument. These fields can be reviewed from the Registration tab within Set-up.

#### How can I learn more about an item?

After reviewing instrument information, it may be useful to review the items within an instrument. To view the items within an instrument, click on the plus sign next to the instrument name; the screen will expand to display all items. To hide the items, click on the minus sign.

As	sessment (	Cente	r sm							
Studios	Instruments Sot up Assemble	Administration					PDFs Adm	n My Account	t Help L	ogo
Studies	Scrup Assemble	Administration					Current Stu	hu AC User M	anual Eva	
							Current Stu	iy: AC User Ma	anuai_exa	mp
Study Co	ontent (AC User Manual_Example) >> Ac	dd an Instrument								
Add a	n Instrument									
First, sel	ect instrument or battery (a fixed set o	f instruments). Use	search criteria to find a	and add instruments / bat	eries to your stud	<i>.</i>				
Instri Batte	ument									
Study:	лy	Typ	<u>م</u> ،		Domain:					
All Pub	ic	▼ All		•	All		•	Show	Results	
Search Add to	Results									
Select	Name	Administratior Study	1 Туре	Domain				Terms of Use		
	Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - Ability to Par in SRA	t. Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Social Function, Ability	:o Participate in So	cial Roles/Activities	<u>Statistics</u>	© 🔁		
• [	Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - AC - Executiv Function	ve Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Applied Cognition, Exe	utive Function		<u>Statistics</u>	© 🔁		
	NOCOG16	How much DIFFICUL accuracy of financial statements)?	TY do you currently hav documents, (e,g., bills,	ve checking the N , checkbook, or bank	one	¥	<u>Statistics</u>			
	NQCOG17	How much DIFFICUL correct amount of m	TY do you currently have oney when making pur	ve counting the N chases?	one	¥	Statistics			

Item components (e.g., stem, responses, and instrument of origin) can be reviewed on the Item Detail page. To access the Item Detail page, click on the item ID hyperlink.

A	S	sessment (	Cente	SM									
	Studies	s Instruments Set-up Assemble	Administration						PDFs Admin	My Ac	count H	elp Lo <u>c</u>	gout
									Current Study:	AC Us	er Manua	al_Exam	ple
St	tudy Co	ontent (AC User Manual Example) >> A	dd an Instrument										
Α	dd a	n Instrument											
Fir	rst, sel	lect instrument or battery (a fixed set o	of instruments). Use	search criteria to find ar	nd add instruments /	batteries	to your study.						ļ
۲	Instr	ument											ļ
5	D Batte tudv:	ery	Typ	e:			Domain:						ļ
4	All Pub	lic	▼ All			٣	All		٣	S	Show Res	ults	
S	earch	Results											
J.	Add to	Study								_			
s	elect	Name	Administration Study	Туре	Domain					Terms of Use			
0		<ul> <li>Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - Ability to Pa in SRA</li> </ul>	rt. Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Social Function, Ab	ility to Par	ticipate in Social Ro	les/Activities	<u>Statistics</u>	¢			
0		Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - AC - Executi Function	ve Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Applied Cognition,	Executive	Function		<u>Statistics</u>	©	₹2		
	_	NOCOG16	How much DIFFICUL accuracy of financial statements)?	TY do you currently have documents, (e,g., bills,	e checking the checkbook, or bank	None		T	<u>Statistics</u>				
		NQCOG17	How much DIFFICUL correct amount of m	TY do you currently have oney when making purc	e counting the hases?	None		¥	Statistics				
		NOCOG22	How much DIFFICUL following complex in	TY do you currently have structions (e.g., direction	e reading and ns for a new	None		¥	Statistics				

#### **View Statistics Pages**

#### How do I use Statistics pages?

Another way you may learn more about an instrument and its items is to review the Instrument and/or Item Statistics pages. These statistics pages are accessed by clicking on the Statistics hyperlinks. For instruments, the Statistics hyperlink is visible on the Study Content and Add an Instrument pages. For items, you must expand an instrument using the plus symbol to see each item along with its Statistics hyperlink. The statistics pages contain data analyzed in previous studies allowing you to review how an instrument and/or item performed in previous analysis. The data entered here has been entered by other Assessment Center users. As a user, you may enter statistical information for instruments and items you create. If you are interested in contributing additional statistics to Public instruments, contact the Assessment Center Administrators at help@assessmentcenter.net or 1-877-283-0596.

As	sessment	Cente	SM					
Studie	es Instruments Set-up Assemble	Administration				PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
						Current Study	: AC User Man	ual_Example
Study C	Content (AC User Manual Example) >> A	Add an Instrument						
Add a	an Instrument							
First, se	elect instrument or battery (a fixed set	of instruments). Use	search criteria to find a	and add instruments / batteries	to your study.			
<ul> <li>Inst</li> <li>Batt</li> </ul>	rument terv							
Study:	cory .	Тур	2:		Domain:			
All Put	blic	▼ All		۲	All	۲	Show Re	esults
Search	h Results							
Add t	o Study							
Select	Name	Administration Study	Туре	Domain			Terms of Use	
	■ Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - Ability to Pa in SRA	rt. Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Social Function, Ability to Pa	rticipate in Social Roles/Activities	<u>Statistics</u>	© 🔁	
	Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - AC - Execut Function	ive Neuro-QOL	Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Applied Cognition, Executive	Function	Statistics	© 🔁	
	NOCOG16	How much DIFFICUL accuracy of financial statements)?	TY do you currently hav documents, (e,g., bills,	ve checking the None , checkbook, or bank	۲	<u>Statistics</u>		
	NQCOG17	How much DIFFICUL correct amount of m	TY do you currently hav oney when making pur	ve counting the None chases?	۲	<b>Statistics</b>		

#### **Publicly Available Instruments**

#### What instruments for adults are available in Assessment Center?

Currently, PROMIS calibrated item banks which are enabled for Computer Adaptive Testing (CAT), PROMIS short forms, and PROMIS Profile instruments are available in Assessment Center. The most recent version (v1.0 or v2.0) may be selected for use in a study. All publicly available instruments will appear by default when you navigate to the Add an Instrument page. The Administration Study field will display the study from which an instrument was created. To learn more about publically available instruments, access the Assessment Center Instrument Library document, http://assessmentcenter.net/documents/InstrumentLibrary.pdf

As of January 2013, NeuroQOL (Quality of Life in Neurological Disorders) item banks which are enabled for Computer Adaptive Testing (CAT) and NeuroQOL short forms are publicly available in Assessment Center. As with PROMIS instruments, they will appear by default on the Add an Instrument page. More information about NeuroQOL may be found at www.neuroqol.org.

#### What are the PROMIS Profile instruments?

PROMIS Profile instruments are short forms containing items from seven of the PROMIS domains (depression, anxiety, physical function, pain impact, fatigue, sleep disturbance, and satisfaction with participation in social roles). The PROMIS-29 includes 4 items from each domain plus one pain intensity item. The PROMIS-43 includes 6 items from each domain plus a pain intensity item. The PROMIS-57 includes 8 items from each domain plus the pain intensity item. When a study participant completes a Profile instrument an individual functional report is created (see Reporting section below).

#### What is the difference between PROMIS short forms?

You will notice that there are several versions of many of the PROMIS short forms (e.g., the "original" 1.0 short form, as well as the 4a, 6a, and 8a versions). The original short forms were constructed by the domain teams. The goal was to identify 6-8 items that represented the range of the trait and also represented the content of the item bank. Domain experts reviewed short forms to give input on the relevance of each item. Each domain group worked independently and the original short forms are 6-10 items long. Psychometric properties and clinical input were both used and likely varied in importance across domains.

Later, PROMIS Profile instruments were developed. The PROMIS Profile Instruments are a collection "high information" PROMIS short forms for seven domains (Anxiety, Depression, Sleep Disturbance, Fatigue, Pain Interference (Impact), Physical Function, and Satisfaction with Participation in Social Roles). Three PROMIS Profile Instruments were created in which, 4-item, 6-item or 8-items were selected from each domain. The items within each instrument are nested/overlap (e.g., the 8-item form is the 6-item form plus two additional items). The selection of items was in part based on two sets of item rankings within each domain using two psychometric criteria: (1) maximum interval information; and 2) CAT simulations. Item rankings were similar for both criteria. For the maximum interval criterion, each item information function was integrated (without weighting) for the interval from the mean to 2 SDS worse than the mean. For the CAT simulations, responses to all items in each bank were generated using a random sample of 1,000 simulees drawn separately for each bank (centered on 0.5 SD worse than the general population mean). Items were rank ordered based on their average administration rank over the simulees. Content experts reviewed the items and rankings and made cuts of 4, 6, and 8 items.

#### How should I determine which instrument to use?

In selecting a short form, the difference is really the instrument length. The reliability and precision of the short forms within a domain is highly similar. If you are working in a sample in which you expected huge variability in a domain area and wanted different subdomains covered, you would probably go for the original short form. If you are

working with a sample in which you wanted the most precise measure, you would go for an 8a short form. If you had little room for additional measures but really wanted to capture something as a secondary outcome, you would go for a 4a short form.

#### What instruments for children are available in Assessment Center?

Currently, PROMIS calibrated item banks, which are enabled for Computer Adaptive Testing (CAT) and short forms for children ages 8 to 17 are available in Assessment Center. These instruments may be selected for use in a study. There are also a set of NeuroQOL items banks, enabled for CAT, and short forms available for pediatric populations. To learn more about publically available instruments, access the Assessment Center Instrument Library document, http://assessmentcenter.net/documents/InstrumentLibrary.pdf

#### Where are the publically available Pediatric Instruments located?

Pediatric instruments may be added to your study from the Add an Instrument page. Steps required to add the pediatric instruments are the same as those required for all instruments (please see Add an Instrument/Battery section above). All public pediatric instruments will appear on the default instrument list. They can be identified by the inclusion of the term "Ped" in the instrument name, e.g. PROMIS Ped Bank v1.0 – Fatigue.

#### Are the current instruments all that will ever be available in Assessment Center?

Instruments will continue to be added to the public Assessment Center Library. Users can also create their own instruments from existing items as well as create/modify their own items.

#### **Create an Instrument**

#### What is a custom Instrument?

Users can create their own instruments which are called custom instruments within Assessment Center. For example, a user could tailor an existing instrument to for his or her study, or a user may want to enter an instrument that is not currently in the Assessment Center library. A custom instrument can only be viewed by the study team; it is not available to the general public. Instruments can be created in English, Spanish, German or French. Future development will enable data collection in other languages. While PROMIS instruments cannot be translated in Assessment Center, in the future, translated PROMIS instruments will be added to the Assessment Center library.

#### How do I create an instrument?

To create an instrument in Assessment Center click on the Create button on the Study Content page. A blank Instrument Properties page will be presented; enter instrument properties (e.g., instrument name, type, domain, language, IRT model) here. There are two instrument types, Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing) or Short Form. The options available in the IRT Model drop list are dependent on the type of instrument you select. If the instrument type is Item Bank/CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing), you will need to select Graded Response Model Scored from the IRT Model drop list. This is currently the only IRT model available. If you are creating a short form, you will need to select No Total Score (default) or Graded Response Model Scored from the IRT Model field. Once all study properties have been entered and saved, the Study Content page will appear listing the newly created instrument.

#### **Create an Instrument**

- 1. On Study Content page, click Create button
- 2. Provide an Instrument name
- 3. Assign one or more Instrument Domains
- 4. Select default language of administration
- 5. Provide an Instrument Description
- 6. Select an Instrument Type
- 7. Select an IRT Model

Assessment Center <sup>™</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs Admin	My Account H	lelp Logout
			Current Study:	AC User Manua	al_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Properties					
Instrument Properties					
Name* AC User Manual Example Instrument		Save Back			
Select the domain or domains for this instrument"       Language:       English •         End of Life Concerns       Status:       Under Devention         Motor       Pain       Status:       Under Devention         - Pain Behavior       - Pain Intensity       Short Form       Short Form         - Pain Intersity       - Pain Interference       Physical Function       - Mobility       Upload PDF         - Upper Extremity       Description*       Description*       Comments       Comments	lopment				
(*) fields are required.					

To add existing items to your instrument, first, on the Study Content page, click on your custom instrument name hyperlink. This will take you to the Instrument Detail page. From here, access the Assessment Center Item Library by clicking on the Find Items button. Once on the Add Items to a Custom Instrument page, you may select items to include in the custom instrument.

The Add Items to a Custom Instrument page looks very similar to the Add an Instrument page. The search drop lists, the default instruments and the hyperlinks are the same. When adding items to a custom instrument, you can select all or some items from within an instrument. To view items, click on the plus/minus box next to an instrument name. To select all items from an instrument, check the box next to the instrument name. To only add some items from an instrument and check the boxes next the desired items.

#### Add Items to Custom Instrument

- 1. On Study Content page, click on custom instrument name hyperlink
- 2. System will open Instrument Detail page
- 3. Click Find Items button
- 4. Select Study and Domain to search
- 5. Click Show Results Button
- 6. Review Item list
- 7. Select desired items by checking box next to instrument name or expanding the instrument and checking box next to the item ID.
- 8. Click Add to Instrument button

The library defaults to display All Public instruments. However, you can select any study that is publicly available or any study on which you are a team member. All instruments that have a status of Administered or Public may be viewed. Therefore, if you create an instrument in a pilot study, you can create a revised instrument in a second study and add the unchanged items from your first instrument. This minimizes the need for re-entering custom items.

Assessment Center					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs Admin	My Account Help Log	gout
			Current Study	AC User Manual_Exam	ple
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Detail (AC User	<u>Manual Example Instrument)</u> >> Add Items to Cus	stom Instrument			
Add Items to Custom Instrument Select your search criteria. Then, select the items to add to your custom	n instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument				
Study: Type:		Domain:			
All Public • All	T	Emotional Distress/Negative Affect	•	Show Results	
Search Results					
Add to Instrument Cancel					
Select Name Administration Type Study	Domain				
■ Reuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - Neuro-QOL Item Bank/CAT Anxiety (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Anxiety/Fear		<u>Statistics</u>	Unknown	
Neuro-QOL Bank v1.0 - Neuro-QOL Item Bank/CAT Depression (Computerized Adaptive Testing)	Depression/Sadness		<u>Statistics</u>	Unknown	
EDDEP29 In the past 7 days I felt depressed	Never	Statistics			
EDDEP19 In the past 7 days I felt that I wanted to give up on everything	Never •	Statistics			
EDDEP05 In the past 7 days I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	Never •	Statistics			
EDDEP07 In the past 7 days I withdrew from other people	Never •	Statistics			

#### **Create an Item**

#### How do I create my own items to include in a custom instrument?

All items are created within an instrument. To create new items, first click the Create Item button from the Instrument Detail page. You will be navigated to a blank Item Detail page to enter item components. Required components include item ID, item domain and item stem.

Once an item has been created, you can continue to enter new items from the Item Detail page by clicking on the New button or the Copy button. Clicking the Copy will generate an Item Detail page containing all previous item components except for the Item ID field, which will be blank. When copying an item you must enter a new Item ID and may modify any other item components. Once you are done entering new items, it is helpful to navigate back to the Instrument Detail page and review all items in your custom instrument.

Only users with the proper permissions for the current study may add or modify items. The roles with permission to perform this function are the Study Administrator and Instrument/Item Administrator. If you would like to make revisions or create new items but do not have the appropriate permissions, please contact the study administrator. The Item Detail page is editable when an item only appears on a single instrument with a status of Under Development. An item is view-only when it has been added to more than one instrument or it is on an instrument with a status of Public, Administered, or Locked.

Ass	essment Cent	er					
Studies	Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration				PC	Fs Admin I	My Account Help Logout
					Cu	rrent Study: A	C User Manual_Example
Study Con	tent (AC User Manual_Example) >> Instrument Deta	il (AC User Manual Example Instrument) >	Item Details	(ACUM_4914)			
Item D	etail						
					New	Statistic	s Save Cancel
ID*:	ACUM_4914	Version: Text	Response	5			
Domain*	Communication Emotion Emotional Distress/Negative Affect		Type: Mu	Itiple Choice 🔻		[	Add another row
	- Anxiety/Fear - Anxiety/		Score	Response Text	Show Re	sponse Scor	e
	- Depression/Sadness End of Life Concerns		1 ₽	Not at all			Delete
	Fatigue	Item Contains Protected Health Information (PHI)	11 ₽ 2	A Little bit			<u>Delete</u>
Context				Somewhat			Delete
In the pa	ist 7 days,		<b>↑</b> ↓5	Very much			Delete
				i cry macri			bulle
Charm 8							
I felt tire	d						
			4				
Administr	ation AC User Original AC User Man	ual Example Creation 4/9/201	4				
Study:	Manual_example Instrument: Instrument	Date:					

#### What is the difference between an item context and item stem?

Assessment Center defines an item as the combination of an item context, stem, and responses. The context field is intended for text that will frame the item such as timeframes ("During the past week...") or conditional statements ("Because of my illness..."). The item context field is optional. The stem field is intended for the text of the actual item or question and is required. During data collection, the item context appears on the first line and the item stem appears on the second line. If an item that is just one sentence or should be displayed as one statement, enter the text into the stem field only.

#### **Item Response Types**

#### What are the available item response types?

There are eight different item response types available within Assessment Center. One response option (informational) should be used when an item has no text or scores applied to the response section. This type should be used for items that give participants additional information, such as additional instructions or text transitioning participants from one concept to another. Four of the response options have a pre-determined format (text, numeric, date and comments). This means that a participant will be presented with a field to type text (a small field for text and a larger field for comments), a number, or be prompted to enter a date using drop lists for month, date and year. The comments response type can be utilized to obtain qualitative data and feedback. Two other response options (multiple choice and drop list) need user defined scoring and response text (e.g., 1=Not at all). A final response option (checkbox) is similar to a multiple choice item although it allows more than one response to be checked (e.g., indicating more than one race). The scoring for this response type is system generated and can be found in the Data Dictionary report within the Administration tab once a study has been launched. These final three response option types initially are assigned two response rows. To add additional response rows, click on the Add Another Row button within the response option box. You may also delete response rows. A checkbox item is limited to 63 response rows.

Ass	essment Cent	er							
Studies	Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration					PDFs Admi	n My Account	Help Lo	ogout
		_				Current Stud	y: AC User Ma	nual_Exar	mple
Study Con	tent (AC User Manual_Example) >> Instrument Detai	l (AC User Manual Example Instrument) >:	Item Details	(ACUM_4914)					
Item D	etail								
					New	Copy Stat	stics Save	Cancel	
ID*:	ACUM_4914	Version: Text	Response	5					
Domain*	Communication Emotion Emotional Distress/Negative Affect		Type: Mu	Itiple Choice V			Add anoth	ier row	
	- Anxiety/Fear - Apathy		Score	Response Text	Show	v Response S	core		
	- Depression/Sadness End of Life Concerns	Itom Contains Protocted	1 1	Not at all			Del	<u>ete</u>	
	Fatigue	Health Information (PHI)	<b>T</b> ♥2 <b>↑</b> ↓3	Somewhat			Del	ete	
Context	et 7 dave		1 1 4	Quite a bit			Del	ete	
in the pu			<b>₽</b> ₩5	Very much			Del	<u>ete</u>	
Stem*			_						
I felt tired	1								
			4						
Administra Study:	ation AC User Original AC User Mani Manual_Example Instrument: Instrument	uai Example Creation 4/9/201 Date:	4						

#### How do I create transition screens (informational item without a response option)?

You may choose not to display a response scale when instructions or transition screens are desired in an instrument. This text is used to inform participants of content changes, give more in-depth, item specific instructions or indicate assessment progress. To create these screens select Informational from the Response Type drop list. This will only display item context (where applicable) and item stem. There will be no response choices. Note that embedding an instruction or transition item within an instrument is useful when a fixed item order is used. If randomizing the order of items within an instrument or utilizing CAT is planned, create a custom instrument that only includes the transition or instruction item.

#### What is a collapsed response category and how should one be handled?

There are instances when an analyst will collapse two response categories together because of infrequent responses in one of those categories. This means that the two responses are treated identically in an IRT model. When response categories are collapsed, you should change the response scores to reflect which categories are collapsed, i.e. the collapsed categories should have the same response score. Doing this results in the appropriate number of thresholds appearing on the Item Statistics page.

Assessment Cente	er					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration				F	DFs Admin	My Account Help Logout
				C	urrent Study:	AC User Manual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Detail	(AC User Manual Example Instrument) >	> Item Details	(ACUM_4914)			
Item Detail						
				New	Copy Statist	ics Save Cancel
ID*: ACUM_4914 Domain* Communication	Version: Text	Response	5			
Emotion Emotional Distress/Negative Affect		Type: Mu	tiple Choice 🔻			Add another row
- Anger - Anxiety/Fear Anathy		Score	Response Text	Show F	lesponse Sco	ore
- Aparry - Depression/Sadness		\$↓1	Not at all			Delete
Fatigue	Item Contains Protected Health Information (PHI)	<b>₽</b> ₽2	A Little bit			<u>Delete</u>
Context			Somewhat Quite a bit	1		<u>Delete</u>
In the past 7 days,		<b>1</b> ↓4	Very much			Delete
				-		
Stem*						
I felt tired						
		1.				
Administration AC User Original AC User Manu Study: Manual_Example Instrument: Instrument	al Example Creation 4/9/201 Date:	.4				

Thresholds (Item Statistics page) are another item characteristics that should be considered when there are collapsed categories. Assessment Center uses the number of response scores to determine how many thresholds are available for an item. Normally, when utilizing graded response model (GRM), an item with 5 response options would have 4 thresholds. Since the collapsed response categories are treated as a single response, the result is that you would see one less threshold (i.e. 3 thresholds). The data export will still show you the answer provided by a participant in the Rspnse (Assessment Data Export) field. This field indicates the position within the response options of a participant's selection, i.e. the response option listed first is coded as 1.

#### How can I display response scores on data collection pages?

There are instances in which it may be useful to display response scores to study participants. For example, an item which asks a participants to place themselves on a 0-10 scale with anchoring text either end of the scale (On a scale from 0-10, how would you rank your fatigue). To make the values entered in the Score field visible to participants, check the Show Response Score box next to each applicable response.

#### How can I indicate an item contains Protected Health Information (PHI)?

Assessment Center allows you to indicate certain data fields contain PHI. These fields are any custom item, consent endorsement text fields and certain custom registration fields. Several registration fields will always be marked as containing PHI. These are date of birth, doctor, last name, first name, street, city, state, zip, email, phone 1, and phone 2. When a data field/item is marked as containing PHI, all data collected in this field will be flagged in the database and will be reported as containing PHI in applicable data exports. This feature is intended to aid in deidentification efforts and protect participant privacy. To indicate a custom item may contains PHI, check the Item Contains Protected Health Information (PHI) box on the Item Detail page. This field will not be editable after a study is launched.

#### **Item Translation**

#### How do I upload item translations?

Assessment Center enables you to upload translated items in the language you wish to use during data collection. Currently, English, Spanish, German and French are supported by Assessment Center. Additional languages will be

supported in future releases. To add item translations to Assessment Center, you must first export a translation file for your custom instrument, then enter item translations into the exported translation file spreadsheet, and finally import the spreadsheet containing item translations back into Assessment Center. It is best to complete this process once you have added and created all the items in your instrument. However, it can be done at any time prior to launch. To begin the process, click on the "Upload Translation" button on the Instrument Detail page, select the language of the translations you will be adding from the Language drop list and click the Export button.

### Assessment Center

Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs Admin My Account Help Logout
	Current Study: AC User Manual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Detail (AC User Manual Example Instrument)	
Instrument Detail	
Instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument	Save Cancel
Order items within the instrument by altering the Order column and clicking "Save".	
To exclude an item from this instrument, click on the Include checkbox.	Hide Excluded Items
Create Item Find Items Upload Translation	Analyze Preview Export
Translation	x
Select language you would like to add, click Export, and choose Save.	
Language File Name Date of U	pload <u>Action</u>
Spanish         No translation file currently exists for this language.         N/A	Export
	Import
Instrument Detail	
Order ID Responses Administration Study	Include

### Upload Item Translations Navigate to the Instrument Detail Page

- 2. Click Upload Translations button
- 3. Make selection from Language drop list
- 4. Click Export button within Translation box
- 5. Save translation file spreadsheet to your computer
- 6. Open translation file spreadsheet
- 7. Enter appropriate translations into Translation column
- 8. Save translation file changes
- 9. Click Import button within Translation box
- 10. Select appropriate translation file
- 11. Verify File Name and Date of Upload fields have been updated

Once you click on Export, you will be prompted to download an Excel file. This file includes columns containing instrument information (i.e. instrument name, default language, etc.) and item elements (e.g. item ID, item stem, response text, etc.). A column titled Translation is where you will type or copy/paste in the direct translation of the content in the corresponding Description field. The Description column will contain all items (context and stem together) and all response options included in the instrument. You will only need to enter a translation for each response option once, even if it is used for multiple items within the instrument. If you require item-specific variations of the same response option, please contact help@assessmentcenter.net to review alternatives. Within the translation file export, Translation is the only field which may be modified. No changes are allowed in the instrument name, language, item ID, and description fields. If you change any of these fields, you will receive errors when importing the file back into Assessment Center.

1	A	В	С	F	G	н	1	J	K 📤
1	Instrument Name	Language	Item ID	Description	Translation				
2	PRO Manual Example	es	* Context	In the past 7 days					
3	PRO Manual Example	es	* Response Option	Always					
4	PRO Manual Example	es	* Response Option	Never					
5	PRO Manual Example	es	* Response Option	Often					
6	PRO Manual Example	es	* Response Option	Rarely					
7	PRO Manual Example	es	* Response Option	Sometimes					
8	PRO Manual Example	es	FATEXP19	How often were you physically drained?					
9	PRO Manual Example	es	FATEXP20	How often did you feel tired?					
10	PRO Manual Example	es	FATEXP22	How often were you bothered by your fatigue?					
11	PRO Manual Example	es	FATEXP26	How often were you too tired to enjoy life?					
				How often did you feel tired even when you hadn't done					
12	PRO Manual Example	es	FATEXP6	anything?					=
				How often did you have trouble finishing things because o	f				
13	PRO Manual Example	es	FATIMP16	your fatigue?					
	А	В	С	F	G	Н		1	K 📥
1	A Instrument Name	B Language	C Item ID	F	G Translation	н		J	K▲
1 2	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example	B Language es	C Item ID * Context	F Description In the past 7 days	G Translation En los últimos 7 días	н		J	K
1 2 3	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option	F Description In the past 7 days Always	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre	Н		J	K
1 2 3 4	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca	Н		J	K
1 2 3 4 5	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option	F P Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Often In the past 7 days Always Always Potential of the part	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo	H		J	K
1 2 3 4 5 6	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option	F P Description In the past 7 days Always Always Never Often Rarely Experimentation of the second s	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez	H		J	K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces	H		]	K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired?	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a?	H			K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired?	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a?	H			K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20 FATEXP22	F P Description In the past 7 days Always Always Often Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired? How often were you bothered by your fatigue?	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a? ¿Con qué frecuencia le molestó el agotamiento?	H			K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20 FATEXP22	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired? How often were you bothered by your fatigue? How often did you feel tired even when you hadn't don	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a? ¿Con qué frecuencia le molestó el agotamiento? ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a a pesar	H			K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20 FATEXP22 FATEXP6	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired? How often were you bothered by your fatigue? How often did you feel tired even when you hadn't don anything?	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a? ¿Con qué frecuencia le molestó el agotamiento? ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a a pesar de no haber hecho nada?	H		J	K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9 10	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20 FATEXP22 FATEXP6	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired? How often did you feel tired even when you hadn't don anything? How often did you have trouble finishing things because o	G Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a? ¿Con qué frecuencia le molestó el agotamiento? ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a a pesar de no haber hecho nada? † (¿Con qué frecuencia two dificultad para	Η		J	K
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	A Instrument Name PRO Manual Example PRO Manual Example	B Language es es es es es es es es es es	C Item ID * Context * Response Option * Response Option * Response Option FATEXP20 FATEXP20 FATEXP26 FATEXP6 FATIMP16	F Description In the past 7 days Always Never Often Rarely Sometimes How often did you feel tired? How often were you bothered by your fatigue? How often did you feel tired even when you hadn't don anything? How often did you have trouble finishing things because or your fatigue?	6 Translation En los últimos 7 días Siempre Nunca A menudo Rara vez Algunas veces ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a? ¿Con qué frecuencia le molestó el agotamiento? ¿Con qué frecuencia se sintió cansado/a a pesar de no haber hecho nada? f ¿Con qué frecuencia tuvo dificultad para terminar las cosas debido al agotamiento?	H			K

It is up to you to ensure the proper translation of your items are entered in the translation file spreadsheet. It is recommended that a quality assurance check be completed by a colleague to verify accuracy. Once you have entered all translations and saved the exported file on your computer, initiate the translation file upload process by navigating to the Instrument Detail page in Assessment Center and clicking the Import button. If the file is imported successfully you will receive a confirmation message and the uploaded file will be listed in the File Name column. It is important to note, to initiate the process of uploading translations; items must **first** be created in Assessment Center. You can only import translations for items existing in the specified custom instrument. You cannot create your own translation file spreadsheet first and then upload your items and translations.

Assessment Center					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Accoun	t Help	Logou
	Curren	t Study:	AC User M	anual_E	xampl
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Detail (AC User Manual Example Instrument)					
Instrument Detail					
Instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument		ſ	Save Ca	ncel	
Order items within the instrument by altering the Order column and clicking "Save".					
To exclude an item from this instrument, click on the Include checkbox.		🔲 Hide	Excluded I	tems	
Create Item Find Items Upload Translation	Analy	ze	eview Exp	port	
Translation				х	
Select language you would like to add, click Export, and choose Save.					
Language File Name Date of Upload			Action		
Spanish   spanishtrans.xlsx Apr 9 2014 10:59AM			Export		
Your translations were successfully uploaded.			Import		
Instrument Detail			de de		
Order     ID     Responses     Administration Study       1     ACUM 4914     In the past 7 days, I felt tired     Not at all <ul> <li>AC User Manual_Example</li> <li>History</li> <li>State</li> </ul>	atistics	Inc	Note	25	

#### Am I able to modify my item translations?

You may modify item translations at any time prior to launching your study into data collection. After the initial import of a translation file to Assessment Center the translation file spreadsheet will be protected. Therefore, to

make modifications to the Translation column you need to first unprotect the spreadsheet. In Excel, this is done by accessing the Review tab and clicking Unprotect Sheet. It is important to note this action will unprotect all fields. You must take caution to only modify the content within the Translation column. Modifications to content in other columns will prevent a successful import of the translation file. Once you have made the desired modifications to your translation file, navigate to the Instrument Detail page and click Import. This will initiate the process of uploading the modified translation file.

#### Are any public instruments available in other languages?

Yes, several of the public, PROMIS instruments are available for administration in Spanish via Assessment Center. Please refer to Table 1 within the Assessment Center Instrument Library document, located here <a href="http://assessmentcenter.net/documents/InstrumentLibrary.pdf">http://assessmentcenter.net/documents/InstrumentLibrary.pdf</a>, for more detailed information.

#### Am I able to upload translations of items from publicly available instruments?

Item translations are associated with an instrument. You may not make edits to item translations for public instruments, any other custom instruments which have already been launched for data collection or not yet launched instruments for which you do not have appropriate permissions. However, once you have added an item from a publicly available instrument to one of your custom instruments you are able to upload a translation for that item. The translation of your custom instrument and its items will be available to anyone who uses that instrument. Currently, study team members may use your custom instrument in other studies. The translations of the item will not be available if the item is added to another custom instrument, i.e. each custom instrument must upload individual translations within Assessment Center.

#### **Item History**

#### Can I review item development?

In an effort to retain and report steps within item and/or instrument development, Assessment Center includes an item history feature. When an existing item is modified in any way (e.g. addition of response option or grammatical change to stem) an item history entry is required. The Item History page is accessed by the History hyperlink next to the item on the Study Content and Instrument Detail pages or by clicking the Show Item History button from the Item Detail page.

A change category and reason for change is required each time an item is modified. This information is stored in the Item History page so that changes may be reviewed. You may also add comments if you have the appropriate permission on the study in which the instrument was created.

#### **Review Item History**

- 1. Click on the History hyperlink for a specific item or click the Show Item History button
- 2. Review the current item in upper left corner of screen
- 3. Review changes in Item History entries

Item History change categories include Expert/Editorial Review, Cognitive/Patient Review, and Translatability Review. Entries are listed in chronological order with the most recent change at the top. In the top left of the screen is the current version of the item. Each row in the table contains the previous version of the item that was subjected to a specific activity such as expert or patient review and comments from the reviews. To add a new row of activity, select a change category, enter comments, and click on the Add a Comment button. To simply add additional text to an existing comment, click on the Append hyperlink below the comment you wish to update.

Studies Instruments Set-	up Assemble Administra	tion			PDFs <u>Admin</u>	My Account Help Log
					Current Study: A	AC User Manual_Examp
Study Content (AC User Manua	<u>al Example)</u> >> <u>Instrument D</u>	etail (AC User Manual Example In:	strument) >> Item Details (ACUM_49)	<u>L4)</u> >> Item History		
Item History						Cancel
ID: ACUM_4914 In the past 7 days, I felt very tired			Responses: Not at all 🔻	]		
		Category	Date Comm	ents		
Context In the past 7 days, Stem I felt very tired	Responses 1 = Not at all 2 = A little bit 3 = Somewhat 4 = Quite a bit 5 = Very much	Cognitive / Patient Review	04/09/2014 <u>Changes</u> made Append			
Context In the past 7 days, Stem I felt tired	<b>Responses</b> 1 = Not at all 2 = A little bit 3 = Somewhat 4 = Quite a bit 5 = Very much	New Item	04/09/2014 Append			
Item History Category* Pleas	e select 🔹	Date 4/9/2014		Add Comment		

#### Instrument Export

#### How can I export a custom instrument?

At any time during the selection and creation of items within a custom instrument, you have the option to export items into an external file. This functionality is useful when wishing to distribute instrument/item content to study collaborators who may not have access to Assessment Center. To begin the export process, click the Export button on the Instrument Detail page. Once the button is clicked an automatic process will guide the user through how to save and/or open the instrument export.

#### **Export Instrument**

- 1. Navigate to the Instrument Detail Page by clicking on the instrument name hyperlink from the Study Content page
- 2. Click Export button
- 3. Click Save button
- 4. Select name for file
- 5. Select location for saved document
- 6. Open Excel file
- 7. Review for completeness

#### What are the guidelines for item ID naming for export in SAS?

Exporting is useful when wishing to distribute instrument/item content to study collaborators who may not have access to Assessment Center. When exporting transposed data in statistical analysis software package (SAS), you should keep ID name rules consistent with variable naming rules for that package. If you are going to be exporting items into SAS please be aware that there are some guidelines when it comes to the naming of item ID's. If these guidelines are not followed, you may have errors when you try and upload your data. Below are some guidelines for exporting into SAS.

- With the exception of underscore, SAS does not read non-alpha/numeric characters well. All variables must start with a letter or an underscore (no numbers)
- Although item names can be up to 32 characters, it's best to limit your names to 8 characters.

#### **Exclude an Instrument or Item**

#### Why would I exclude an Instrument or Item?

Assessment Center does not actually delete objects. Rather, to protect the integrity of the instruments and items that are available to all users, features such as Include/Exclude and Hide to help you manage the appearance of your study. You can choose to exclude an instrument from a study or items from an instrument. This functionality is similar to the Archive Study feature previously seen on the Studies page. A checkmark in the Include box indicates that an instrument is included in a study. Unchecking the box will exclude an instrument. When the inclusion status of an instrument is changed, you must provide a reason for inclusion/exclusion in Notes which will automatically popup in a second window when inclusion status is changed. It may be helpful to record the date of the status change to help track a study's history. Excluded instruments will automatically be moved to the bottom of the instrument list. Re-include an instrument, check the Include box.

Assessment Center <sup>™</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs	Admin My Acco	ount Help Logout
			Curre	nt Study: AC Use	r Manual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Detail (AC User Manual Example Ins	trument)				
Instrument Detail					
Instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument				Save	Cancel
Order items within the instrument by altering the Order column and clicking "Save".					
To exclude an item from this instrument, click on the Include checkbox.				🔲 Hide Exclude	d Items
	Cre	ate Item Find Items Up	oload Translation Anal	yze Preview	Export
Instrument Detail	Paspan	sos Ad	dministration	Include	1
	Respon	Ses St	udy	Include	-
ACUM 4914 In the past 7 days, I felt very tired	Not at	all • AC Ma	anual_Example	<u>Statistics</u>	Notes
2 FATIMP15 In the past 7 days How often did your fatigue interfere with your abi recreational activities?	ity to engage in Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	Statistics 🖉	Notes
3 FATIMP16 In the past 7 days How often did you have trouble finishing things by fatigue?	ecause of your Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	Statistics	Notes
4 FATIMP17 In the past 7 days How often did your fatigue make it difficult to mak	e decisions? Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	Statistics	Notes
5 FATIMP18 In the past 7 days How often did you have to limit your social activitie fatigue?	es because of your Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	<u>Statistics</u>	Notes
6 FATIMP20 In the past 7 days How often did your fatigue make you feel less ale	Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	Statistics	Notes
FATIMP19 In the past 7 days How often were you too tired to do your househo	ld chores? Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	Statistics	<u>Notes</u>
FATIMP21 In the past 7 days How often were you too tired to take a bath or sh	ower? Never	▼ PR	ROMIS <u>History</u>	Statistics	<u>Notes</u>

There are some instruments that cannot be excluded from a study as a whole. For example, once you add a Toolbox instrument you are not able to exclude that instrument on the Study Content page using the Include/Exclude feature. However, you are able to exclude a particular instrument from an individual assessment on the Arm/Assessment Details page. For more details on Toolbox instrument ordering please click on the hyperlink below: <u>http://www.nihtoolbox.org/HowDol/HowToAdministerTheToolbox/Documents/NIH%20Toolbox%20Measure s-%20order\_Administration%20Manual%2011-29%20EB.pdf</u>

There are times where you do **not** want to exclude an instrument from the whole study but just a particular assessment. This is accomplished on the Advanced Study Set-up page within the Set-up tab. Click on the Instrument Block drop list and select "Not Included". For more information, please see the "Assign Instruments to Study Arms and Assessments" section of this manual.

#### **Establish Instrument Order**

#### How do I define the order of instrument administration for my study?

Instrument order is defined in multiple places in Assessment Center. Fixed ordering of instruments as well as more complex presentation schemes are allowed. If you want to administer instruments in a fixed order, you can order them on the Study Content page by typing in the correct order number in the Order field. For more complex Instrument ordering, you may group instruments on the Arm/Assessment Details page. More information on how to group instruments is available in the Set-up section of this manual.

Assessment Center	SM									
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration									t Help	Logout
						Current	Study: A	C User M	anual_E	xample
Study Content (AC User Manual_Example)										
Study Content										
Click the Add button to add instruments to your study. Click the Crea	te button to create custom in	struments in yo	ur study.				Add S	Save Cr	eate	
You have selected the following instruments for this study.										
Order the instruments by entering the desired position into the text b	oox, then click Save.									
To exclude an instrument from your study, click on the Include checkbo	ox.					🗆 Hid	e Exclude	d Instrur	nents	
Study Content										
Order Name	Administration Study					Include		Terms of Use		
1  ■ PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Fatigue	PROMIS	<u>Customize</u>	<u>Preview</u>	<b>Properties</b>	Statistics		Notes	©	1	
2 AC User Manual Example Instrument	AC User Manual_Example	<u>Customize</u>	Preview	<b>Properties</b>	Statistics		Notes			
3	PROMIS	<u>Customize</u>	Preview	Properties	Statistics		Notes	©	-	

#### Instrument Customization

#### **Item Order**

#### How do I define the order of item administration for my study?

Item order is defined in multiple places in Assessment Center. It is important to note, that item order is irrelevant for CAT instruments as the CAT administration engine will select order of items. Within a non-CAT instrument, however, you have the flexibility to present items in a fixed, branched, or random order. If you want to administer items within a custom instrument in a fixed (i.e. sequential) order first navigate to the Instrument Detail page by clicking on the instrument name hyperlink from the Study Content page. Then type in the correct order number in the Order field.

If you wish to present items in a random order, navigate to the Instrument Customization page by clicking on the Customize hyperlink next to the instrument name on the Study Content page. Select Random from the Administration Method drop list.

If you select an Administration Method of Random or Sequential, you may group similar items (e.g., shared response options) within an instrument together for administration. All items from an instrument will appear. You may use the Item Block Number field to group similar items together. For example, all items with a "not at all" to "very much" response scale may be in item block 1 whereas all items with "never" to "always" response scale may be in item block 2. If you have selected the administration method of random, you may use the checkboxes at the top of the page to indicate if randomization of blocks and/or items within blocks is desired. If you have selected sequential, the blocks will be administered in sequential order based upon their block number and the items within each block will

be administered in the order they appear on the Instrument Customization page. To modify the order in which items appear on the Instrument Customization page, access the Instrument Detail page and use the Order field.

Assessment Center <sup>™</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
			Current Study:	AC User Mar	nual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Customization					
Instrument Customization					
Instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument Administration Method: Random  Set IRT Parameters Instrument order is Random. Define Randomization below. Randomize Item Blocks Randomize Items within Item Blocks		Save	el		
		Templates determine h respondents	ow an item will a s on the data colle	ppear to stud action screen	dy Is.
		Change all item templates to:	Please select		T
ltem Block Number	Branching If	Then Go To	Ter	nplate	
ACUM_4914 In the past 7 days, I felt very tired	Not at all A Little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much	Please Select	Vertical 01		T
1 FATIMP15 In the past 7 days How often did your fatigue interfere with your ability to eng in recreational activities?	age Never Rarely Sometimes Often	Please Select	Vertical 01		•

#### Branching

Sometimes, you may want a participant to skip specific items dependent upon his or her response to a previous item. This is can be accommodated by selecting an Administration Method of Branch. Using the Branching If and Then Go To fields for each item, you can select the response choice that will result in skipping a specific item(s) and direct the participant to the next desired item. To select multiple response choices in the Branching If field, hold down the Ctrl (Control) button and use your mouse to make multiple selections.

Assessment Center	
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs Admin My Account Help Logou
	Current Study: AC User Manual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Customization	
Instrument Customization	
Instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument          Administration Method:       Branch <ul> <li>Set IRT Parameters</li> <li>Instrument order is Branched. Define Branch criteria below</li> <li>Randomize Item Blocks</li> <li>Randomize Item Blocks</li> </ul>	Save
	Templates determine how an item will appear to study
	respondents on the data collection screens.
	Change all item templates to: Please select •
Item Block Number	Branching If Then Go To Template
1 ACUM_4914 In the past 7 days, I felt very tired	Not at all FATIMP20   FATIMP20  Vertical 01  Vertical 01
1 FATIMP15 In the past 7 days How often did your fatigue interfere with your ability to engage in recreational activities?	ge Never Please Select ▼ Vertical 01 ▼ Rarely

#### Templates

#### What templates are available in Assessment Center?

There are five item templates, Vertical 01, Buttons 01, Cartoon Harry 01, Cartoon Harry Buttons 01, and Horizontal 01. All templates have an Auto Advance version as well which uses the same format, but navigates a participant to the next item as soon as a response is selected. Vertical 01 displays responses in a vertical list with radio buttons. A participant can click on the radio button or the response word(s) to select his/her choice. This is the default template in Assessment Center.

In the past 7 days	
How often did you feel tired?	
Never	
Rarely	
Sometimes	
Often	
Always	
Previous Next	Exit

Buttons01 also displays response options vertically, but has the response text printed on a large button. When a participant clicks anywhere on the button to select it, the button becomes to yellow. Because this template has a larger selection area, it may be helpful for populations with less fine motor control (e.g., children, physically impaired).

Please rate how you feel you are doing today your last study assessment.	compared with how you were doing at
Much better	
Somewhat better	
About the same	
Somewhat worse	
Much worse	
Previous Next	Exit

The Cartoon templates mimic either the Vertical 01 or Buttons 01 templates with the inclusion of a cartoon image. This template is intended to be used with children or other similar populations to put them at ease and encourage them during an assessment.

	What is your level of pain right now? No pain Mild Moderate Severe Very severe	
Previous	Next	Exit
	What is your level of pain right now?         No pain         Mild         Moderate         Severe         Very severe	
Previous	Next	Exit

Horizontal01 displays response options horizontally with radio buttons. The Horizontal 01 templates are only an option in the Template drop list for multiple choice items. Horizontal 01 templates may only be selected on the item level. Therefore they do not appear as an option on the "Change all item templates to" drop list. Response scores are displayed in data collection when the Show Response Score box in checked on the Item Detail page.

In the pa	ast 7 day	s											
How would you rate your pain on average?													
© 0	© 1	© 2	© 3	© 4	© 5	© 6	© 7	© 8	© 9	© 10			
No pain									in	Worst pain naginable			
		Previous		Next					Exit				

#### **CAT (IRT)** Parameters

#### Do I need to enter parameters in order for an instrument to be scored?

CAT (IRT) parameters inform the administration engine how to give an assessment accurately according to the algorithm established for that instrument. All CAT (Computerized Adaptive Testing) instruments and all short form instruments with an IRT Model field set to Graded Response Model Scored are scored. An instrument's CAT (IRT) parameters cannot be changed within a study once that study has been launched. Default CAT (IRT) parameters have been set for all public instruments (e.g. PROMIS and NeuroQOL CATs) in Assessment Center. If you utilize a public, scored instrument in a study, you will have the option of modifying the default CAT (IRT) parameters page. You must set parameters for scored instrument syou have created. The parameters you set for a custom, scored instrument will become the default parameters for that instrument. Other users utilizing your custom, scored instrument will have the option of using the default parameters or modifying them to their specifications. Any modifications made to default parameters will only be applied for the current study, i.e. the default parameters will not change. Users with Study Administrator or Instrument/Item Administrator roles may add or modify CAT/IRT parameters. You may access a complete list of CAT (IRT) parameter variables and their definitions within Assessment Center Help, https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac1/Help/index.html.

#### What CAT (IRT) parameters are used for a given instrument?

To view CAT (IRT) parameters, click on the Set IRT Parameters button on the Instrument Customization page. On the CAT Parameters page, users determine the set of item parameters (i.e., threshold and slope values) and, where applicable, modify the default administration parameters (i.e., item selection and stopping conditions) which should be used to administer a scored instrument. An instrument may have one set of administration parameters per language/calibration sample combination.

Assessi	nent Center <sup>™</sup>						
Studies Instruments	Set-up Assemble Administration			PDFs Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
				Current Study	r: AC User Ma	nual_E	xample
Study Content (AC User M	anual Example) >> Instrument Customization						
Instrument Custom	ization						
Instrument: PROMIS Banl Administration Method: [ Instrument type is CAT. O	x v1.0 - Fatigue AT ▼ Set IRT Parameters ally customization available is template selection		Save	cel			
Randomize Item Block	s 🗏 Randomize Items within Item Blocks						
			Templates determine h respondent	how an item will is on the data col	appear to stu llection screer	dy ns.	
			Change all item templates to:	Please select		¥	
ltem Block Number		Branching If	Then Go To	Те	emplate		
0 FATIMP1	In the past 7 days To what degree did you have to push yourself to get things done because of your fatigue?	Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much	Please Select	Vertical 01		T	
0 FATIMP2	In the past 7 days To what degree did your fatigue make you feel slowed down in your thinking?	Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit	Please Select	Vertical 01		۲	

To set parameters for a calibration sample, make a selection from both the Language and Calibration Sample drop lists at the top of each CAT parameters section, modify default parameters as applicable and click Save. The Language drop list is populated with all languages currently supported by Assessment Center. The Calibration Sample drop list is populated with all the calibration samples entered on the Item Statistics page for items within the instrument. If

the drop list selection made on the CAT Parameters page is not applicable for all items within an instrument, the CAT instrument will still run but only administer items which have item parameters for the selected calibration sample.

Ass	ses	sment	t Cente	er								
Studies	Instrument	s Set-up Asse	mble Administration					PDFs	a Admin	My Account	Help Logo	out
								Curre	ent Study	: AC User Mai	ual_Examp	le
Study Cor	ntent (AC Us	er Manual Example	) >> Instrument Custo	mization >> CAT Parame	eters							
CAT Pa	rameter	s				Set Parame	ters for New Language Save Cano	-				
Instrume IRT Mod	ent: PROM lel: Graded	IS Bank v1.0 - Fat Response Model	igue									
- CAT Para	anguage		Calibration Sam	ale: Promic Ways 1 T			Report to Default Parameters					
ī	tem Section	All Languages	Calibration bailing	inc. Thomas wave 1			Reset to Delault 1 arameters	1				
		Selec	tion Method* Max Post	erior Weighted Info (MP	• (IW							
			First Item Select		Theta 0.0	0	Item ID					
F	Prior Distributio	on:	Mean* 0.00		Standard Deviation* 1.0	0						
S	Stopping Cor	nditions						-				
Ν	lumber Of Iten	ns:	Minimum* 4		Maximum* 12		Standard Error* 0.30					
I	nformation	/ Likelihood Functi	on					1				
Т	'heta:	L	ower Bound*  -4.00		Upper Bound* 4.0	0	Increment* 0.1000					
E	xposure Co	ntrol	Group Size* 1									

Users may enter a set of administration parameters per language. To establish an additional set of parameters for an additional language, click the Set Parameter for New Language button. This will create another instance of a CAT parameters section. Within the new section, make the appropriate selections from the Language and/or Calibration Sample drop lists, modify default parameters as applicable and click Save. Users only need to set parameters for a language if the parameters are different than those used for the instrument's other languages. For example, if an instrument is to be administered in English, Spanish and French and the English version will use parameters which are different from those to be used for Spanish and French, the user should add an additional parameter section where Language=English, modify applicable parameters and click Save. The user does not need to do the same action for the other two languages as they will be using the same set of parameters (i.e. Language=All Language).

Users may not modify the Language selection (All Languages) in the default CAT parameters section. The parameters defined in this section will be used for any language not defined in an additional language parameters section. As in the example detailed above, Spanish and French will be administered based upon the parameters defined in the default CAT parameters (All Languages) section while English will be administered based upon the parameters defined in the additional CAT parameters section (Language=English-see below).

sessm	ent Center				
es Instruments Set-	p Assemble Administration			PDFs <u>Admin</u> My Account	Help
				Current Study: AC User Ma	nual_E
Content (AC User Manua	Example) >> Instrument Customization >:	> CAT Parameters			
Parameters		Set Par	ameters for New Language Save Cancel		
Iment: AC User Manua Iodel: Graded Respon	al Example Instrument se Model				
Parameters CAT Parameters					
Language: English	Calibration Sample: Promis War	ve 1 🔻			
Item Section					
	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weigh	ted Info (MPWI)			
	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weigh	ted Info (MPWI)  Theta	Item ID 🔹		
Prior Distribution:	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weigh First Item Select  Mean*	ted Info (MPWI) ▼ Theta Standard Deviation* 1	item ID		
Prior Distribution: Stopping Conditions	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weigh First Item Select  Mean*	ted Info (MPWI) ▼ Theta Standard Deviation* 1	Item ID		
Prior Distribution: Stopping Conditions Number Of Items:	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weigh First Item Select  Mean* Mean* Minimum* 4	ted Info (MPWI) ▼ Theta Standard Deviation* 1 Maximum* 12	Item ID		
Prior Distribution: Stopping Conditions Number Of Items: Information / Likelihh	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weigh First Item Select Mean* 0 Minimum* 4 pod Function	ted Info (MPWI)  Theta  Standard Deviation*	Item ID		

#### May I determine the first item to be administered in a CAT or scored Short Form?

Users have the option to select how the first item in a CAT or scored short form will be determined. There are two options within the First Item drop list, theta and item ID. If theta is selected a text box will appear in which the desired theta value of the first item must be entered. If item ID is selected a drop list will appear containing the item IDs of all items within the scored instrument. The item selected from this list will be the first item administered in the instrument. If no selection is made in the First Item drop list, by default the scored instrument will administer the item with the highest information as determined by the algorithm.

Assessme	nt Center"					
Studies Instruments Set-up	Assemble Administration			PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
				Current Study:	AC User Man	ual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual E)	<pre>kample) &gt;&gt; Instrument Customization &gt;&gt;</pre>	CAT Parameters				
CAT Parameters		Set	Parameters for New Language Save Cancel			
Instrument: AC User Manual E	xample Instrument					
IN I MOUEL GIAded Response	Model					
CAT Darameters						
Language: All Language	es  Calibration Sample: Promi	s Wave 1 🔻	Reset to Default Parameters			
Item Section	Selection Method* Max Posterior Weight	ed Info (MPWI)				
	First Item Select •	Theta	Item ID			
Prior Distribution:	Mean* 0	Standard Deviation* 1				
Stopping Conditions						
Number Of Items:	Minimum* 4	Maximum* 12	Standard Error* 0.3			
Information / Likelihood Theta:	Lower Bound* -4	Upper Bound* 4	Increment* 0.1			

#### How do I administer every item from a CAT instrument?

A CAT engine does not administer all items within the instrument. If you want to administer all items that make up the item bank, you will need to access the Set CAT Parameters page and change the standard error to 0. As this is statistically impossible, all items will be administered. You will also need to ensure that the value in the Maximum Number of Items field is larger than the total number of items in the bank.

Assessment Center			
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
	Current Study:	AC User Man	ual_Example
Study Content (AC User Manual Example) >> Instrument Customization >> CAT Parameters			
CAT Parameters for New Language Save Cancel			
Instrument: AC User Manual Example Instrument IRT Model: Graded Response Model			
- CAT Parameters			
Language: All Languages  Calibration Sample: Promis Wave 1  Reset to Default Parameters Reset to Default Parameters			
Item Section Selection Method* Max Posterior Weighted Info (MPWI)			
First Item Select  Theta Item ID T			
Prior Distribution: Mean* 0 Standard Deviation* 1			
Stopping Conditions			

#### **CAT/ Short Form No Duplicates Engine**

#### How do I administer a CAT followed by every item in a short form not selected by the CAT engine?

Some researchers may want to be able to review scores from a CAT instrument as well as from a fixed short form of items from the same item bank. If one were to add the CAT and short form to a single study, it would be possible for the same item to be administered in each instrument. To avoid presentation of duplicate items, navigate to the Advanced sub-menu tab within Set-up. Click on the Specify Instruments hyperlink for the appropriate arm/assessment. The CAT instrument will need to be administered first. Select No Duplicates from the Administer drop list for the appropriate short form. This instructs the administration engine to administer all the CAT items as defined by the parameters, but not administer any items within the short form that have been administered in the CAT. In order for the No Duplicates Engine to be applied, the applicable CAT(s) and short form(s) must have the same Block value. An Administer selection is not available if an instrument is using a non-sequential administration engine, i.e. CAT, branch, random. Note that in the exported data files, the items which appear on both the CAT and short form will appear twice, once with the CAT and once with the short form, even though it was only administered once. In the Mode column of the Assessment Data export, a redundant item will be coded as Participant via Web if a respondent was administered the item or Algorithm/System Generated if the participant was not administered the item.

Assessment Center	a				PDFs Admin	My Account He	p Logout
Language Basic Advanced Consent Registration					Current Study:	AC User Manual	Example
Advanced Study Setup (AC User Manual Example) >> Specify Instrumen	ts						
Arm / Assessment Details							
Arm: default Assessment: 1 Instruments can be blocked. These blocks can be administered random random or pre-defined order.	lly or in a fixed order. Instrum	nents in the same block ar	e administered toget	Save Back			
Instrument Block Block Administration Instrument	Order within Block	Completed by Participant	Administer				
1 • Fixed • PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Fatigue	1 •		CAT 🔻				
1 • Fixed • AC User Manual Example Ins	trument 2 🔻	Ø	No Duplicates 🔻				
1 • Fixed • PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Anxiety	3 •	V	CAT				

#### How do I learn more about the instruments in my study?

There are three hyperlinks for each instrument on the Study Content page. These links offer users information about each instrument. One of these links is the Statistics link which was also available on the Add an Instrument page. The other two are Properties and Preview. The Properties link provides detailed information about each instrument. This page is view-only for administered and public instruments. The Preview link opens a pop-up screen that will display an instrument in a selected template, in any applicable language and, if selected, will display information about item administration and selection.

Assessment Ce	nter <sup>™</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Adm	inistration			PDFs Ac	lmin My Acc	ount Help
				Current S	tudy: AC Use	r Manual_Exa
Study Content (AC User Manual_Example)						
Study Content						
Click the Add button to add instruments to your stur You have selected the following instruments for this	<ol> <li>Click the Create button to create custom instances</li> </ol>	struments in your study.			Add Save	Create
Order the instruments by entering the desired posit	on into the text box, then click Save.					
To exclude an instrument from your study, click on th	e Include checkbox.			🗆 Hide I	Excluded Inst	truments
Study Content						
Order Name	Administration Study			Include	Terr of U	ns Ise
1	PROMIS	Customize Preview	Properties Statistics	<b>I</b>	Notes C	
2 AC User Manual Example Instrument	AC User Manual_Example	Customize Preview	Properties Statistics		Notes	
3 PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Anxiety	PROMIS	Customize Preview	Properties Statistics		Notes C	

#### **Instrument Preview**

#### What is the purpose of previewing instruments?

The Preview link shows what an instrument looks like in various administration templates. It includes all items in an instrument. Selecting the Preview hyperlink will display a View Options popup box from where you can select to view an item list or simulate how the instrument would be viewed by participants in data collection.
View Options		
🔘 Preview item list		
Simulate instrument administration with customized settings		
Show Execution Detail (e.g. Item ID and Ability Estimate)		
Language: English -		
	Continue	Cancel

### 1. Click Preview link next to a CAT instrument name 2. Select Simulate instrument administration with customized settings 3. Check the Show Execution Detail box 4. Click Continue button 5. Answer first item 6. Click the Next button. View execution details including the theta, standard score, and standard error

Response Theta S EDDEP29=4 1.50 ( EDDEP41=3 1.48 (	<b>Score</b> 65.0 64.8	<b>SE</b> 4.49 3.03	In the past 7	/ days						]
			I felt worth	ess						
			Never							
			Rarely							
			Sometime	S						
			Often							
			Always							
			Previous		Next				Exit	
					CAT Set	ttings				-
			Min # of Items to Admin 5	Max # of Items to Admin 20	Selection Criterion MPWI	Max SE 3	Pop. Mean 50	Pop. SD 10	Calibration Sample Promis Wave 1	

## **Add Statistics**

## How do I add statistics to my instrument?

**View Live CAT Scoring** 

An important feature in Assessment Center is the ability to store, review and update item or instrument statistics. Statistics can only be entered by team members who have the Instrument/Item Administrator role within the originating (Administration) study. Statistics can be entered into the Instrument or Item Statistics pages by clicking the Update buttons. The Item Statistic page also allows users to upload two statistical graphs. These graphs must be created in various statistical programs and then copied into an image format (e.g., .jpeg) prior to being uploaded to

Assessment Center. It is important to note universal image format should be used so that the graphs can be viewed in various browsers.

#### Enter Instrument Statistics

- 1. Click a Statistics link for an instrument
- 2. Click the Update button next to the desired statistical field
- 3. Enter data into the appropriate statistical fields in the popup screen

As	se	S	sn	ier	nt (	Ce	nt	er゛	na																			
Stuc	ies Ins	trume	nts s	et-up A	ssemble	Admi	nistration																PDFs	Admin	My Ac	count	Help	Logout
	_		_																				Curren	t Study	: AC Us	er Man	ual_E	xample
<u>Study</u>	Content	(AC L	lser Mar	ual Exam	nple) >> I	nstrume	ent Statis	stics																				
Inst	rumen	t Sta	atistic	5																								
Instr	ıment: Pl	ROMI	5 Bank v	1.0 - Fati	gue												[	Upda	te Ba	ack								
Cali	ration S	ampl	e Pron	nis Wave	1 🔻						_								Min M	lax								
San	ple Desc	riptio	n PROM	IS Final V	Vave 1			Scal	e Score	10.0	20.	0 30.0	40.	.0 50.0	60.0	70.0	0 80.0	90.0	0.0 0	.0								
								SE Roli:	ability	1./0	./0	.20	.10	0 .10	.10	.10	.10	.30										
Sca	ng Mode	Use	d For C	alibration	Gradeo	Respor	nse Mode		ability	1.00		.54		.55	.55	.55	.55	1.50										
1010	Numbe	0110	ems		95			SE		Aver	age	CAT L	eng	th for T	<b>arget</b>	SE (	(Type=	CAT	only)									
								0.00	)																			
								0.00	)																			
								NT		Aver	ane	SE for	Tar	net CA	Tien	ath (	Type	CAT	only)									
								0		.00	.00	.00		0. 00	0 .0	0	.00	.00	.00									
								0		.00	.00	00.		0. 00	0.0	0	.00	.00	.00									
												7																
								Scal	e Score D	efinit	ion																	
San	ple I	I I	Alpha	Reliabilit	y				In data																			
Pro	mis 🔻 1	4931	0.99						opuare																			
				Score D		ions																						
	Mean	SD	P5	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90	P95																			
Rav	220.69	91.	34 98.0	109.00	142.00	206.00	284.00	356.00	392.00																			
Sca	<b>e</b> 51.23	9.4	1 36.4	5 39.02	44.31	50.82	57.83	63.97	67.33																			

#### **Enter Item Statistics**

- 1. Click Statistics link for item
- 2. Click Update button on Sample Population box
- 3. Enter data into stats fields
- 4. Click Update button on Differential Item Functioning (DIF) box
- 5. Select sample population in drop lists
- 6. Enter set of data in stats fields
- 7. Click Save
- 8. Click Update button on IRT Model box
- 9. Enter set of data into stats fields
- 10. Click Save
- 11. Click Icon next to Item Information Function and/or Category Response Function
- 12. Click Browse button
- 13. Select image

Ac	ec		mo	nt C	ont	SI SI	м													
AS Studie		struments	Satur	Accombio		-1										I	PDFs Adm	nin My <i>l</i>	ccount He	lp Log
Studi	<u>ca</u>		Set-up	Assemble	Administration											C	urrent Stu	dy: AC U	ser Manual	Examp
Study	Content	: (AC User	Manual Exa	mple) >> Iten	n Statistics															
Item	Statis	stics																		
ID: FA	TEXP20							Do	omain	: Fatigue	2							[	Back	
In the	past 7 (	days How	often did yo	u feel tired?																
Respo	nses N	lever	•																	
Samp	le Popu	Ilation																		
Desci	ription	PROMIS	Wave 1 Full I	Bank	T														Update	
N- Size	Mean Score	SD Score	Minimum Score	Maximum Score	Alpha Reliability	Adj. A Reliab	lpha pility	Item Total Correlation	2	Adj. Iter Correlat	m Total tion	Percen	t % Option	% Option	% Option	% Option	% Option	]		_
803	2.84	1.00	1	5	0.99	1.00		0.77	1	0.80		14.9	1	2	3	4	5	-		
Diffe	rential I	(tem Func	tioning (DIF	-) Informatio	on															
											Up	date	]							
DIF G	iroups (	Referenc	e/Focal)			ι	Jniform U	Iniform Prob.	Non-	Uniform	Non-Unifo	rm Prob.	4							
PRO	MIS Male	e - Female	2			• 2	2.84 0	.0920	0.00		0.9852									
Calib	ration S	ample																		
Desci	ription:	PROMIS	Cancer	•			Sample	Population: F	PROMI	S Age <6	65								Update	
IRT M	lodel: G	raded Res	sponse Mode													1.1.11	- P			-
Cate	egory F	Respons	e Function	u U			Item I	nformation	i Fun	ction U				Mode	I Fit & Sc	alability	Value	Proh		
														S-X <sup>2</sup>	2		0.00	0.0000		
														S-G <sup>2</sup>	2		0.00	0.0000		
														<b>X</b> <sup>2</sup>			0.00	0.0000		
														G <sup>2</sup>			0.00	0.0000		
														Loev Scal	vinger H ability		0.00			
														Loca Info	ition At M rmation	ax	0.00			
Thres	hold 1 is	s betweer ters	the lowest	scored respo	onse and the r	next high	nest respo	nse(s).		1										
Slop	e Gi	uessing	Threshold	d (CB) Thr	eshold (CB)	Thresh	old (CB)	Threshold (	(CB)	1										
(a) 3.250	0.88 0.	0000	-1.6209	-0.4	1778	3 0.7291		4 1.7908		-										

## How do I create more than one set of item-level parameters?

Items within Assessment Center may have more than one set of item-level parameters. This enables the system to administer the same item but with different calibrations. Calibrations are identified by the name of the calibration sample. All calibration sample statistics (e.g. IRT parameters) are entered at the item level on the Item Statistics page. It is necessary to complete the Sample Population section of the Item Statistics page prior to attempting to complete the Calibration Sample section. When entering calibration sample data, you will need to select the sample population for which the data applies as there may be more than one calibration sample record per sample population.

#### **Instrument Terms of Use**

#### How do I view an instrument's terms of use?

Instrument may have unique terms of use. Clicking on the symbol © will present the Terms and Conditions for that instrument. You do not have to accept the Terms and Conditions at this point. However, you will need to accept the Terms and Conditions prior to opening an instrument PDF, zip file or launching your study. You may accept the terms and conditions for individual instruments on either the Add an Instrument page or the Study Content page. You may navigate to the Launch Study page or PDF link to accept the Terms and Conditions for a group of instruments, e.g. PROMIS instruments.

#### **Instrument PDFs**

#### Are paper versions of instruments available?

Assessment Center contains PDFs of existing instruments to be used for paper and pencil administration. These are accessed through the Study Content or the Add Instruments pages by clicking on the PDF icon to the far right of each instrument listing. Additionally, zip files of instrument PDFs are available on the PDF page (hyperlink in the upper right). All of the PROMIS instruments have PDF versions available. You must endorse Terms and Conditions before opening an instrument PDF. In future releases, you may create PDFs of your custom instruments and submit it to Center Administrators (help@assessmentcenter.net) for uploading. If you do not have Adobe Reader, you can download it for free by clicking on the Get Adobe Reader button at the bottom of the page.

#### **Download Instrument PDF**

- 1. Navigate to the Study Content or Add Instrument page
- 2. Click on the © symbol to read and endorse the Terms & Conditions.
- 3. Click Accept button
- 4. Click on the PDF icon.
- 5. View, print, and/or save the PDF of the instrument. If needed, Adobe Reader can be downloaded through the button at the bottom of the page.

Assessment Center	SM									
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration						PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
						Current	Study: A	AC User M	anual_E	xample
Study Content (AC User Manual_Example)										
Study Content										
Click the Add button to add instruments to your study. Click the Creat	te button to create custom in	struments in yo	ur study.				Add !	Save	eate	
You have selected the following instruments for this study.										
Order the instruments by entering the desired position into the text b	ox, then click Save.									
To exclude an instrument from your study, click on the Include checkbo	ox.					🗆 Hide	e Exclude	ed Instrun	nents	
Study Content										
Order Name	Administration Study					Include		Terms of Use		
1  ■ PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Fatigue	PROMIS	<u>Customize</u>	<u>Preview</u>	<u>Properties</u>	Statistics	•	Notes	C	2	
2      AC User Manual Example Instrument	AC User Manual_Example	<u>Customize</u>	Preview	<b>Properties</b>	Statistics	•	Notes			
3	PROMIS	<u>Customize</u>	Preview	<b>Properties</b>	Statistics		Notes	©	12	

#### **Making Instruments Publicly Available**

#### How do I share my instrument with other Assessment Center users?

You are able to create your own instruments by compiling items within the library or entering new items. To make instruments available to all Assessment Center users, the instrument status must be changed to Public. This can only be done by an Assessment Center administrator. To request that an instrument be made public, please contact administrators at <u>help@assessmentcenter.net</u> or 1-877-283-0596. Administrators will request additional information about the instrument development to determine if the instrument should be publicly available.



## Set-up

### What is the purpose of the Set-up tab?

Assessment Center allows a researcher to set up a study website to collect research participant data. This encompasses detailing in which language your study will be administered, establishing study parameters (e.g., target sample size) how instruments should be administered (e.g., randomization), adding online consent/HIPAA documents, and defining participant self-registration fields.

#### Language

### How do I indicate the language in which my study should be administered?

When you first navigate to the Set-up tab, you are, by default, on the Language page. This page allows you to select the languages which will be available to participants during data collection.



Currently, instruments may be administered in English, Spanish, German or French. Upon instrument creation, one language was set as the default on the Instrument Properties page. If you have uploaded additional language translations or another translation exists, those languages will appear as an additional selection on the Language page. You will have option to select one or more languages for administration. If you select more than one language, a screen will appear at the beginning of data collection prompting participants to select their preferred language. The selection is recorded on a participant's Registration Detail page and is available in the data exports.

Asse	ssment Center		
	Select your desired language	English	
	Seleccionar el idioma deseado	Español	
	Wählen Sie die gewünschte Sprache	Deutsch	
	Veuillez sélectionner une langue	Français	
		_	

## Will all data collection screens be available in my selected language?

Currently, English, Spanish, German and French are supported in Assessment Center. Participants will see all system text (default welcome text, non-custom registration screens, login/password assignment, error messages etc.) in their selected language. If you are collecting data in a non-English language, be sure to review how to upload consent forms and registration fields in the desired language. These instructions are included later in this manual.

### What occurs if an item or an instrument does not have applicable language translations uploaded?

All item translations must be uploaded per instrument via the Instrument Detail page. If an item or an instrument does not have applicable language translations uploaded these items or instruments will not be administered to participants who select to complete the assessment in the applicable language. The Preview tab contains a warning which will list the items which are missing an item translation. You may navigate back to the Instrument Detail page at any time prior to Launch to upload additional item translations.

### **Basic Study Set-up**

### How do I start setting up a website to collect participant data?

The Basic Study Set-up page allows you to create a data collection platform by entering study information about sample size, study web address, start and end dates, and contact information. You may access a detailed description of each field within the Basic Set-up page within Assessment Center Help, https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac1/Help/index.html.

Assess	ment Center <sup>®</sup>				
Studies Instruments	Set-up Assemble Administration		PDFs Admin	My Account	lelp Logout
Language <u>Basic</u> Advar	uced   Consent   Registration		Current Study:	AC User Manu	al_Example
Basic Study Setup (AC Us	er Manual_Example)				
Basic Study Setup					
You may define participar Start Date*: Accrual End Date*: Close data collection when sample size equals*: Contact information for participant questions*: URL Extension*:	at registration forms below. 4/7/2014 4/7/2015 25 r-hanrahan@northwestern.edu https://msswebtest.fsm.northwestern.edu/assessmentcenter/qa/ac1/Assessments/ AC_User_Manual_Exa	Login screen welcome message (maximum English U Font Welcome to AC User Manual_Example French	n 10,000 characte	Save Cancers)	

## May I include an image on my study's home page?

An image can be uploaded to Assessment Center for inclusion on your study website's home page. To begin the upload process, click on the image icon within the Login Screen box toolbar. An Image Properties window will open. Within this window, navigate to the Upload tab and Browse your computer for the appropriate image. Once the image is found, click the Send it to the Server button to complete the upload. You will receive a confirmation message. To finalize the upload, click Ok on the Image Properties window and you will then see the image within the login screen page.

Assess	ment Center	54	PDFs Admin MyAccount Help Logout
Language         Basic         Advantise           Basic Study Setup         (Ac Use           Basic Study Setup         You may define participantic	Security         Assemble         Administration           ccd         Consent         Registration            ar Manual_Example)	Image Properties	Current Study: AC User Manual_Example
Start Date": Accrual End Date": Close data collection when sample size equals": Contact information for participant questions": URL Extension":	4/7/2014 4/7/2015 25 r-hanrahan@northwestern.edu https://msswebtest.fsm.northwestern.e AC_User_Manual_Exa	Width       Preview       Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer       adjoint for the second se	size Ar Ar

## **Advanced Study Set-up**

### How do I set up a more complex study?

Advanced is the second sub-menu tab under Set-up. The Advanced Study Set-Up page allows you to create studies that have multiple arms (e.g., intervention and control), multiple assessments for longitudinal study designs, and customized instrument presentation per arm/assessment.

#### **Create Multiple Study Arms**

#### How do create a study with more than one arm?

Frequently, research designs have multiple arms. An arm can be defined as a grouping of study participants. Multiple study arms should be used when study participants will not all have the same protocol, e.g. different instruments, different assessment schedule. Assessment Center allows a researcher to tailor the content of the assessment within each arm. If a study utilizes participant self-registration, Assessment Center assigns a participant to a study arm. If a study researcher is registering participants, the study arm can be assigned during registration.

The Advanced Study Set-up page defaults to having a single armed study with a single assessment. If you wish to create multiple arms, click the New Row button. Enter the arm name in the Arm field. *Any variation in the text entered into the Arm field will indicate a new study arm.* Therefore, it is important to ensure the names given to a particular arm, e.g. control, are spelled exactly the same in each new row.

Assessment	Cente	r sm								
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemb	ble Administration					PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Language   Basic   Advanced   Consent	Registration					Current	Study:	AC User Ma	nual_E	xample
Advanced Study Setup (AC User Manual_Ex	ample)									
Advanced Study Setup										
Create at least one arm/assessment instance a	nd click Save. You will th	nen be able to click	on the Specify Instrume	ents link.						
<ul> <li>Advanced Study Setup has been save</li> </ul>	ed.									
								Save	Cance	1
New Row										_
Arm Assessment D	ay Assessment Opens	Window								
Control 1	Day 0	4 Days	Specify Instruments	Delet	e					
Control 2	Day 7	4 Days	Specify Instruments	<u>Delet</u>	<u>e</u>					
Intervention 1	Day 0	4 Days	Specify Instruments	Delet	<u>e</u>					
Intervention 2	Day 7	4 Days	Specify Instruments	<u>Delet</u>	e					

## How do I determine how many arms to use in Advanced Set-up?

There are a number of factors to consider when determining how many arms to have in your study. For example, if you have a study design in which different people are getting different measures, you will want to have multiple arms.

### How do participants get assigned to a study arm?

If participants self-register (i.e. access the study-specific website, enter registration or consent information and obtain a login), they are assigned to a study arm by Assessment Center. Generally, this works for item calibration testing when you don't need to control who answers what instruments/items. However, this is not appropriate if you want, for example, all patients with breast cancer to get one set of instruments and patients with prostate cancer to get a different set of instruments. If you need to direct participants to a specific arm, researchers should register the participants from the Administration tab assigning each participant to the correct arm. This means that participants will enter their login and password information on the Welcome (home) page of the data collection website. By doing so, they will bypass the registration and consent screens. Therefore, it is important for the researcher registering the participant to collect all applicable registration data and consent the participant (or verify consent has been obtained).

If participant registration by a researcher is not feasible, e.g. participants will complete assessment at home after receiving a newsletter, you can set up a study and subsequently a data collection website per participant population. For example, you could create one study/website for breast cancer patients and one study/website for prostate cancer patients.

## How do I create study arms that have an unequal number of participants?

If you are having participants self-register, they will be automatically assigned to a study arm in EQUAL numbers. This is appropriate if you want say, 100 people in Arm A and 100 people in Arm B. If you have uneven group sizes, you can create multiple arms that are identical. For example, in a given study you may want 300 people in Arm A but only 100 people in Arm B. You can create four arms – Arm A1, A2, and A3 are all identical to each other and Arm B is different. Equal numbers of participants are assigned to each arm and as a result you will have 300 people in the A arms and 100 people in the B arm.

Study arm assignment can be summarized from the Registration. Data export. Study Arm appears as column AB when the export is opened in Excel. If your study has specific accrual goals per study arm, it will be important to periodically run the export and assess the number of participants in each arm.

### **Create Multiple Assessments**

#### How do I set up a longitudinal study?

Assessment Center allows for data collection at multiple points in time. For example, a researcher may want to collect initial baseline data, a 1 month and 6 month follow-up. This can be accomplished through the Assessment, Day Assessment Opens, and Window fields. Enter the assessment number in the Assessment field. The Day Assessment Opens field indicates when an assessment is made available to study participants. This information is not relevant to the first (baseline) assessment and no data will be entered in this field when the Assessment field equals 1. For subsequent assessments, enter the number of days after the first assessment that you want the assessment to be available. In the example below, the 1-week follow-up would be 7 days after baseline and the 2-week follow-up would be 14 days after baseline. The Window field establishes how many calendar days an assessment will remain open to study participants. For example, if participants have one week to complete the assessment, enter 7 in the Window field. A study participant may exit the assessment and return at a later time as long as it is within the assessment window. In the example below Assessment 2 will be open from Day 7 to Day 9. Assessment 3 will be open from Day 14 to Day 16. It is recommended that you **do not** have overlapping assessments. If you do, a person would be immediately transitioned to from one assessment to the following assessment.

Assessment Center <sup>®</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Language Basic Advanced Consent Registration	Curren	t Study:	AC User Ma	nual_E	xample
Advanced Study Setup (AC User Manual_Example)					
Advanced Study Setup					
Create at least one arm/assessment instance and click Save. You will then be able to click on the Specify Instruments link.					
			Save	Cancel	1
New Row					
Arm Assessment Day Assessment Opens Window					
Control     1     Day     2     Days     Specify Instruments     Delete					
Control 2 Day 7 2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					
Control 3 Day 14 2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					
Intervention 1 Day 0 2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					
Intervention 2 Day 7 2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					
Intervention 3 Day 14 2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					

#### How do I set up a daily assessment?

To create a study that has a daily assessment, enter 0 in the Window field. A participant will have until midnight central standard time (CST) to complete an assessment for that day. In the example below, a participant is asked to complete an assessment every day for 7 days.

Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration PDFs Admin My Account He	o Logout
Language Basic Advanced Consent Registration Current Study: AC User Manual	Example
Advanced Study Setup (AC User Manual_Example)	
Advanced Study Setup	
Create at least one arm/assessment instance and click Save. You will then be able to click on the Specify Instruments link.	
New Row	.ei
Arm Assessment Day Assessment Opens Window	
arm1 Day 0 Days Specify Instruments Delete	
arm1 2 Day 1 0 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>	
arm1 3 Day 2 0 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>	
arm1 4 Day 3 0 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>	
arm1 5 Day 4 0 Days Specify Instruments Delete	
arm1 6 Day 5 0 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>	

## How does Assessment Center calculate the assessment schedule?

The assessment schedule for a study is established on the Advanced Study Setup page with the Day Assessment Opens and Window fields. A day is based on the Central Standard Time (CST) Zone. That means that if a participant in Chicago begins an assessment at 8pm that is only available that day, s/he will have until midnight to complete the assessment. After midnight, the assessment will not be available. If a participant is in New York, his or her schedule will still be based on Central time even though s/he is physically located in the Eastern Time Zone.

## **Modify Assessment Schedule**

## How can I change the assessment schedule for one participant?

In Assessment Center, the assessment schedule is set for a study as a whole on the Advanced Set-up page. Sometimes you may need to adjust the schedule for a single participant. This is done in the Administration tab within a participant's individual registration record-see steps below.

#### Modify a Participant's Schedule

- 1. On the Study Overview page, access a participant's registration record by entering their login in the Find/create Login field or accessing the Participant List and clicking on the participant's name hyperlink.
- 2. On the Registration Details page, click the View Schedule hyperlink to the right of the Schedule field
- 3. Enter the new End Date for the correct assessment in the Participant View row.
- 4. Click on the pencil icon on the far left to accept changes.
- 5. Enter the new End Date for the correct assessment in the Clinician View row.
- 6. Click on the pencil icon on the far left to accept changes.
- 7. Close the window.

Assessment	Center <sup>™</sup>			
Studies Instruments Set-up Asse	mble Administration	PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
Overview Registration Details Participar	It Details Contact Information Custom Fields Reports Participant Data	Current Study:	AC User Man	ual_Example
To register a new participant, enter infor button. Please navigate to Participant De Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Partic registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required	nation below and click Register Participant Login: tails, Contact Information and Custom ipant button to ensure all necessary for consented participants			
Study Arm:				
Schedule:	Default View Schedule Details			
Date Approach:	4/9/2014			
Site:				
Login: (optional)	45454 Create participant login			
** Password:				
Study code:				
Baseline:	04/09/2014			
** Consent:	Yes No Test Preview     Preview			
Non-Enrollment Reason:	Υ			
Off Study:				
Language:	English •			

Pa	rticipant Sched	ule		
9	Scheduled Event	Mode of Access	Start Date	End Date
1	Assessment (1)	Participant View	11/15/2011	11/17/2011
1	Assessment (1)	Clinician View	11/15/2011	11/17/2011
1	Assessment (2)	Participant View	11/18/2011	11/20/2011
1	kssessment (2)	Clinician View	11/18/2011	11/20/2011
1	Assessment (3)	Participant View	12/01/2011	12/03/2011
1	Assessment (3)	Clinician View	12/01/2011	12/03/2011
1	Assessment (4)	Participant View	12/08/2011	12/10/2011
1	Assessment (4)	Clinician View	12/08/2011	12/10/2011
1	Assessment (5)	Participant View	12/15/2011	12/17/2011
1	Assessment (5)	Clinician View	12/15/2011	12/17/2011
1	Assessment (6)	Participant View	12/22/2011	12/24/2011
1	Assessment (6)	Clinician View	12/22/2011	12/24/2011
1	Assessment (7)	Participant View	12/29/2011	12/31/2011
1	Assessment (7)	Clinician View	12/29/2011	12/31/2011
1	Assessment (8)	Participant View	01/05/2012	01/07/2012
		[Close Wi	ndow]	

## How would I set up assessments without a predefined assessment schedule?

To create a flexible assessment schedule in Assessment Center, first set up the max number of assessments a participant could possibly take on the Advanced Study Set-up page. Next, set the Day Assessment Opens and window fields so no assessments overlap (e.g. opens every 3-6 months). Finally, each time a participant comes in for a follow-up assessment manually modify the assessment schedule via the participant's registration record (please see "Modify Assessment Schedule" section for details). The final step will open up the assessment being modified so that it will be

administered to the user when they log into the study website. Please note this step is not necessary for the baseline assessment.

Assess	ment	: Cente	5M					
Studies Instruments	Set-up Asse	mble Administration		PDFs Ad	dmin	My Account	Help	Logout
Language   Basic   <u>Adva</u>	nced Consent	Registration		Current S	Study: /	AC User Ma	nual_E	xample
Advanced Study Setup (A	AC User Manual_	Example)						
Advanced Study S	etup							
Create at least one arm/as	sessment instance	e and click Save. You will t	hen be able to click on the Specify Instruments link.					
New Row						Save	Cance	I
Arm	Assessment	Day Assessment Opens	Window					
arm1	1	Day 0	2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					
arm1	2	Day 100	2 Days Specify Instruments Delete					
arm1	3	Day 200	2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					
arm1	4	Day 300	2 Days <u>Specify Instruments</u> <u>Delete</u>					

## How can I set follow-up assessments to be timed from a particular event (e.g., surgery)?

Assessments may be associated with an event outside of Assessment Center. For example, a researcher may want to have a baseline assessment completed 7-14 days prior to surgery and follow-up assessments completed 6-week and 12-weeks from surgery date, not date of baseline. In this case, Assessment Center needs information on when surgery happened in order to correctly time the follow-up assessments.

There are a couple of ways to complete this requirement. First, a researcher could set up a study with a flexible assessment schedule (see description above). Once a participant's surgery occurs research staff should modify that participant's schedule for Assessment 2 and 3 (please see "Modify Assessment Schedule" section for details).

A second option to accommodate an event-based study design is to create multiple Assessment Center studies. The first study would include only Assessment 1 (i.e. the baseline, pre-event assessment). The second study would include all follow-up assessments which occur after the event. During data collection, once a participant completed the first study research staff would use the participant's login and password to manually register that participant to the second study. In the second study registration, the "Baseline" field on the Registration Details page should be the start date of the first follow-up assessment. It is important to ensure the logins from the two studies are the same (i.e. login from first study used when registering participant to second study) so the databases may be linked together during analyses. An advantage of this solution is that it reduces the amount of manipulation to the study schedule for each individual participant. However, it does require merging data from the two studies.

In both scenarios, it may be useful for data cleaning and analyses purposes to record the event date in a custom instrument/item, e.g. "Please enter date of surgery".

#### Assign Instruments to Study Arms and Assessments

#### How do I establish what instruments are administered within an arm and an assessment?

Assessment Center allows you to tailor each assessment within a study arm. For example, you may wish to administer a sociodemographic instrument only at the first assessment and a study evaluation instrument only at the final assessment. On the Advanced Study Set-up page, first establish the arm/assessment schedule for your study by

naming each arm and entering values in the Assessment, Day Assessment Opens and Window fields. Once you have saved your assessment schedule, the Specify Instruments hyperlink will become active. Click on this hyperlink for the arm/ assessment row of interest to access the Arm/Assessment Details page. The arm name and assessment number will be listed at the top of this page. All instruments included in the study are listed. Select Not Included under the Instrument Block field for any instrument within your study that you do not want administered for this arm/assessment.

<b>Establishing instrum</b>	nents included in	an Assessment
-----------------------------	-------------------	---------------

- 1. From Set-Up, navigate to the Advanced Study Setup page.
- 2. Click on the Specify Instruments hyperlink for the arm/assessment
- 3. In the Instrument Block drop down menu, select Not Included for all of the instruments not administered in this arm/assessment.

Assessment Center	
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs Admin My Account Help Logout
Language Basic Advanced Consent Registration	Current Study: AC User Manual_Example
Advanced Study Setup (AC User Manual Example) >> Specify Instruments	
Arm / Assessment Details	
Arm: arm1 Assessment: 1 Save	Back
Instruments can be blocked. These blocks can be administered randomly or in a fixed order. Instruments in the same block are administered together in a random or pre-defined order.	
Instrument Block Administration Instrument Order within Block Completed by Participant Administer	
1         ▼         PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Fatigue         1         ▼         CAT         ▼	
Not Included •     Fixed •     AC User Manual Example Instrument     2     •     All Items •	
1     ▼     Fixed ▼     PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Anxiety     3     ▼     CAT     ▼	

## **Instrument Order**

## How do I define the order of instrument administration for each arm/assessment?

Instruments can be grouped together for administration. For example, you may wish to group sociodemographic instruments or patient-reported outcome instruments together. On the Arm/Assessment Details page, each instrument can be assigned to a group using the Instrument Block field. For example, all sociodemographic instruments could be assigned to Instrument Block 1, and all patient-reported outcome instruments to Instrument Block 2. The order of instruments within a given block can be fixed or random. Under Block Administration, select Fixed if you want blocks presented sequentially. Select Random if blocks should be presented randomly. You can have some blocks presented randomly and some fixed. The Order Within Block field can be used to fix the instrument order or assign random order within an Instrument Block.

In the example below, Block 1, is fixed while Blocks 2 and 3 are set to be administered in a random order. The order of instruments within a given block (see Order within Block column) is sometimes fixed and sometimes random. Here, Instrument Block 1 is always administered first with the demographics instrument followed by clinical instrument. Blocks 2 and 3 are always presented next, but the system will randomly determine if Block 2 or Block 3 will be presented first. The PROMIS instruments within Blocks 2 and 3 are also presented in a randomized order.

If you add an instrument to your study after you have initially set the instrument administration on the Arm/Assessment Details page, the newly included instrument will be placed in the last "Order within Block" position under the first block (block=1). This will be done for all arm/assessments. You will need to access each Arm/Assessment Details instance to make necessary revisions.

#### Grouping Instruments Together and Establishing Instrument-Level Randomization

- 1. Click on the Specify Instruments hyperlink for the applicable arm/assessment
- 2. Assign Instrument Block number on Arm/Assessment Details page
- 3. Select if Blocks are in a fixed (sequential) or random order
- 4. Select if instruments within a given block are presented in a fixed (sequential) or random order

2	Assessment Center									
	Studies         Instruments         Set-up         Assemble         Administration									
L	anguage   Basic	Advanced Consent	t Registration					Current Stud	y: AC User Mai	nual_Example
	Advanced Study Set	tup (AC User Manual	Example) >> Specify Instruments							
	Arm / Assessm	nent Details								
	Arm: arm1		Assessment: 1				Save Back			
	Instruments can be random or pre-defi	e blocked. These block ned order.	ks can be administered randomly or in a	fixed order. Instrun	nents in the same block are	e administered toget	her in a			
	Instrument Block	Block Administration	Instrument	Order within Block	Completed by Participant	Administer				
	1 •	Fixed <b>v</b>	PROMIS Sociodemographic Example	1 •		All Items •				
	1 •	Fixed •	PROMIS Clinical Form Example	2 🔻	ø	All Items •				
	2 •	Random ▼	PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Depression	Random ▼	Ø	CAT •				
	2 •	Random <b>v</b>	PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Anxiety	Random ▼	Ø	CAT •				
	3 🔻	Random <b>v</b>	PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Pain Behavior	Random <b>v</b>	Ø	CAT •				
	3 🔻	Random <b>v</b>	PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Fatigue	Random <b>v</b>	Ø	CAT •				
L										

## **Identifying Clinician-Rated Instruments**

#### How can I include instruments in my study that are completed by research or clinical staff?

Sometimes researchers want to include instruments that are tied to a given research participant, but are completed by research or clinical staff, e.g. a physician's rating of performance status for a research participant or research assistant completed medical history review. Assessment Center allows for some instruments to only be accessed by research staff through the Participant Data page on the Administration tab. Only team members with proper roles on the study may view (Study Administrator, Study Participant Administrator) or enter/modify (Study Data Entry Administrator) data. By default participants are presented all instruments. On the Arm/Assessment Details page, you can indicate if an instrument should not be presented to the research participant by unchecking the Completed by Participants box.



Assessmen	t Center <sup>™</sup>						
Studies Instruments Set-up As	emble Administration				PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
Language Basic Advanced Conse	nt Registration				Current Study	AC User Man	ual_Example
Advanced Study Setup (AC User Manua	Example) >> Specify Instruments						
Arm / Assessment Details							
Arm: arm1	Assessment: 1			Save	ack		
Instruments can be blocked. These blo random or pre-defined order.	cks can be administered randomly or in a	fixed order. Instrum	ents in the same block ar	e administered together in a			
Instrument Block Block Administration	Instrument	Order within Block	Completed by Participant	Administer			
1 ▼ Fixed ▼	PROMIS Sociodemographic Example	1 •	۲	All Items			
1   ▼   Fixed ▼	PROMIS Clinical Form Example	2 🔹		All Items			
2   Random	PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Depression	Random <b>v</b>	۲	CAT •			
2   Random	PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Anxiety	Random <b>v</b>	۲	CAT •			
3 ▼ Random ▼	Clinical Performance	1 •		All Items			

## **Avoiding Redundant Items**

#### Am I able to eliminate an item being administered twice?

The Administer drop lists allow a user to specify whether or not they would like the system to check if an item has already been administered in an assessment and if that is the case, not administer the item on a subsequent instrument within the same arm/assessment. If a user selects No Duplicates under the Administration field any item already administered in the preceding instruments will not be administered a second time. The score recorded when the item was first administered will appear in the export files for both instruments. The Mode field in the Assessment Data export will indicate if the participant's response was captured for that instrument (Participant via Web) or copied from a prior instrument (Algorithm/System Generated). The administration of All Items is the default. An Administer selection is not available if an instrument is using a non-sequential administration engine, i.e. CAT, branch, random.



### **Add Consent Forms**

### How do I add study consent forms?

The Consent sub-menu tab allows you to include up to three online consent documents per language for participants (e.g., consent, assent, HIPAA). Consent forms are not required by Assessment Center to administer a study and the inclusion of consent forms is dependent on institution-specific procedures. It is important to verify requirements with your institutional review board (IRB) prior to launching a study in Assessment Center. It is the responsibility of users to ensure compliance with IRB regulations, not Assessment Center or Assessment Center administrators.

### What consent forms should I use?

Assessment Center does not regulate the text that is entered into the consent form fields. However, it is essential that users consult with their institution's IRB office to ensure their study has been reviewed and approved. If a study is approved as exempt and not needing a consent form (this can ONLY be determined by the IRB) users should not use the Consent page. If a study has been reviewed and the institution-specific IRB has approved use of the Assessment Center online consent feature, then users should copy and paste their institution-specific, IRB approved consent form(s) into the Consent 1, 2 or 3 fields, as applicable. To do so, expand the applicable section by clicking on the plus/minus sign next to the consent title. You will then be presented additional sections for each language you have determined to use in data collection. Click the plus/minus sign next to the language title to expand the section and view the text box in which you may cut/paste a consent form.

The easiest way to add consent forms in your study is to create them in a word processing program such as Word and use the copy/paste functions to add them into Assessment Center. This will allow you to take full advantage of formatting options (e.g. spell checking, fonts). Within each consent section, there are three checkboxes. The first allows you to denote the consent form may contain Protected Health Information (PHI) by checking the Consent contains Protected Health Information (PHI) box. When a data field is marked as containing PHI, all data collected in this field will be flagged in the database and will be reported as containing PHI in applicable data exports. This feature is intended to aid in de-identification efforts and protect participant privacy.

The next two checkboxes are used to indicate how a participant will provide consent endorsement. The first is a checkbox and the second is an open text field. Users can specify the text they would like accompany these fields, e.g. "Please check this box if you agree to participate" within each consent language section. Users may opt to use one, both or none of these endorsement indicators although IRBs may have institution-specific requirements that may guide a user's decision. The endorsement field will appear at the bottom of the consent form when presented to research participants. If you are collecting data in multiple languages, you should include a consent form in each language. Consent forms within Assessment Center are for online use only. Do not use this feature if you intend to obtain informed consent with paper-based forms. Consent status is recorded within a study participant's registration record, Registration Details page within the Administration tab and Export Consent Data export.

#### **Add Consent Forms**

- 1. From the Consent sub-menu tab, click the plus/minus sign to expand Consent 1 section
- 2. Check the Consent contains Protected Health Information (PHI), where applicable
- 3. Indicate the type of endorsement to include
- 4. Modify endorsement text, where applicable
- 5. Paste consent form text into consent form content textbox
- 6. If collecting data in other languages, paste appropriate consent form text in the other language sections.
- 7. Repeat with Consent 2 and Consent 3 if necessary



## When are consent forms viewed by participants?

A consent form appears after the Welcome (home) page. A participant is not able to move forward unless the consent is endorsed. However, if a researcher registers a participant from the Administration tab, that participant will NOT view a consent. The system assumes a researcher procured consent before registering a participant in a study. When researchers register participants, consent status is required within a study participant's registration record.

## Registration

#### What is registration?

Registration in Assessment Center is used to collect participant demographic and contact information. Registration screens, as defined on the Registration tab within Setup, are presented after consent forms and before instruments. Assessment Center allows for participants to self-register or for study staff to register participants. Registration information is to be completed by whoever is completing the registration form (i.e., participant or researcher). This means that if a researcher registers a participant, the participant will not view the registration screens. Registration fields are used in tracking participant accrual. Data from these fields is used to populate accrual reports. Age, ethnicity, gender, race must be collected in Registration to take full advantage of the reports, i.e. Enrollment Report and NIH Inclusion Enrollment Report. If you collect these in a study instrument, you will have to MANUALLY construct an accrual report. Additionally, registration information is stored in a database separate from the instrument data. This allows a researcher to keep PHI separate thereby having access to a de-identified dataset (Assessment Data export).

## How do I select registration variables to include in my study?

To select registration fields to be administered to participants, navigate to the Registration sub-menu tab within the Set-up tab. On the Registration page there are standard registration fields on the left and customizable registration fields on the right (click the plus/minus symbol to view each field type). Check the Include box for all registration

fields you wish to have administered to participants. If you would like to require that a participant provide information in a field, check the Required box. It is important to note, participants will not be able to move forward without providing required registration information. You may also enter minimum and maximum values for validation. This may be useful when you want to ensure only eligible individuals can access the study (e.g., over age 18). Participants who provide responses outside of the range will receive a message noting they are not eligible for the study. If you are collecting data in a non-English language, the standard registration fields will displayed in the participant's selected language. Several standard registration fields will always be marked as containing PHI. These are date of birth, doctor, last name, first name, street, city, state, zip, email, phone 1, and phone 2. When a data field is marked as containing PHI, all data collected in this field will be flagged in the database and will be reported as containing PHI in applicable data exports. This feature is intended to aid in de-identification efforts and protect participant privacy.

The Ethnicity and Race fields utilize responses recommended by current NIH guidelines. For Ethnicity, participants indicate if they are Hispanic or Latino, Not Hispanic or Latino, or Not Provided. For Race, participants can select all that apply: American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Black or African American, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, Not Provided, Other, and White. If this information is collected in registration, it will automatically populate an NIH Inclusion Enrollment report that meets the criteria for NIH progress reports.

There are five custom registration fields. They are organized based on response type. One field allows collection of a date response (e.g. date of diagnosis). There are two fields to collect numeric responses (e.g. number of hospitalizations in the last year). A custom text field allows for open text responses (e.g. name of hospital). Finally, a custom list registration field presents a drop list (e.g. type of cancer–breast, colon, lung, etc.). For this customizable field, responses must be entered in the validation section and be separated by commas. The custom list responses have a character limit of 500. For each custom registration field, you are responsible for entering the field label text. This is the text which will inform the participant what to enter in the field, e.g. "what is the date of you diagnosis" or "please select your disease type from the list". If your study collects data in multiple languages, there will be a section per language so you may enter text in each applicable language. You will click the plus/minus sign to expand each section. The additional custom fields can be marked as PHI by checking the PHI box within each field row.

As	sessm	ient	Ce	nter	SM					
Studies	Instruments Se	et-up Assen	nble Admin	istration			PDFs Admin	My Account Help Logout		
Language	anguage   Basic   Advanced   Consent   Registration   Current Study: AC User Manual_Example									
Registrat	Registration (AC User Manual Example)									
Regist	ration									
You may	define participant re	egistration for	rms below.					Save Cancel		
	(	Custom Demog	raphic Fields			Additional Custom Fields				
Include	Field Label	Required	Valid	lation		+ Date Field				
			Min Value	Max Value						
•	Age					- Number Field				
	Date of Birth					Validation				
	Gender					Include Required PHI Min Value Max Value				
	Ethnicity									
	Race					Field Label - English				
	Doctor					Label for Number Field:				
	First Name					- French				
	Last Name					Label for Number Field:				
	Street									
	City					+ Number2 Field				



#### **Selecting Registration Fields**

- 1. Navigate to the Registration page
- 2. Check Include for all desired variables
- 3. Click Required if participants are required to provide a response
- 4. Click PHI if data may contain protected health information
- 5. Enter any custom registration field labels and validation values
- 6. Enter custom registration field text for all additional languages if needed

#### Assemble

From the Assemble tab, you will be able to review and launch your study for data collection.

## How do I create my study's data collection site?

The first step in preparing your study for preview and/or actual data collection is to navigate to the Build Study page. From this page, click the Build button in order for Assessment Center to assemble your study's data collection site.

### What do the warning and error messages on the Build Study page mean?

There are warnings which may appear within the Build Study page providing a check on the instruments you have included in your study. Warnings will not prevent a study from being launched. Instead, they are a final check for you to ensure you have no problematic instruments in your study. The first warning is "The following items contain missing/mismatched calibrations. Please set IRT Parameters". This warning identifies if a scored instrument includes uncalibrated items. If this occurs, the uncalibrated items will not be administered to participants. Second, the instruments listed in the "Items from Multiple Domains" check indicate that a CAT has items from more than one domain. CAT construction involves calibrating a unidimensional construct. Consequently, if you have created a CAT from multiple constructs, it may be problematic. Third, the "Instruments with Duplicate Items" warning notes instruments that share items. You may consider using the No Duplicates function on the Arm/Assessment Detail Page to avoid giving a participant the same item multiple times. The final warning, "Translation Warnings", will alert you to items which do not have a translation uploaded. This warning will only be applicable if your study includes more than one administration language.

There are also two errors messages which may appear at the top of the Preview page. If you receive one of these errors the system will require you to resolve it before launching your study. The first error occurs if a study has no instruments added or created. To resolve this issue navigate to the Instruments tab and add or create at least one instrument. The second error, which reads "CAT parameters have not been set", occurs if you have created a scored instrument but have not set CAT (IRT) parameters. To resolve this error, you will need to navigate to the CAT Parameters page to set or modify, as applicable, and save default CAT parameters.

## How can I review my study before I preview and/or launch?

The Study Configuration Export details your study set-up as entered on the Advanced set-up tab, e.g. study arms, instrument blocks per arm/assessment, administration engine etc. Click the View Export button to open the Study Configuration Export. When using a Windows platform, the file will open as an Excel file. It is recommended you save the report outside of Assessment Center for future reference. If the export does not match selections within the Advanced sub-menu tab, please review the Arm/Assessment Details page then contact administrators at help@assessmentcenter.net or 1-877-283-0596.

#### Should I conduct other reviews before previewing my data collection site?

A study summary is displayed on the Build Study page detailing the accrual goal, start date, end date, study URL, and contact information. Also, after you initially launch your study for preview, the Administration tab is available for use. Navigate to the Administration tab to review participant registration and data pages, study reports and data exports.

Assessment Center		
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration		PDFs Admin My Account Help Logout
Build Preview Launch		Current Study: AC User Manual_Example
Build (AC User Manual_Example) BUILD STUDY		
Assessment Center must assemble study files before creating a preview version of your study. Study files must be collected and assembled the first time a study is previewed or anytime changes are made to a study.To collect and assemble the study files, dick on the BUILD button.	Build	
Warnings and Error Messages There are no warnings or errors found in your study.		
Study Configuration Export The export contains details of your study set-up as entered on the Advanced set-up tab, e.g. study arms, instrument blocks per arm/ assessment, administration engine etc.	View Export	
Accrual Goal: 25     Start Date: Apr 7 2014 12:00AM	<u>Go there</u> <u>Go there</u>	
i End Date: Apr 7 2015 12:00AM	<u>Go there</u>	
i Languages of Administration: English	<u>Go there</u>	

## How do I initiate a preview of my study's data collection site?

Once you have reviewed the report you will want to preview your study from the perspective of a participant. The preview will show all study details, e.g. language, items/instruments, administration engines, instrument blocks per arm/assessment, etc. Preview also allows you to review scoring of instruments. If you would like to view response scores during preview, ensure Yes is endorsed on the Preview Study page. It is important to note, you will not need to change your endorsement to ensure response scores are not displayed to participants. The only instance in which response scores will be displayed to participants once a study is launched is if the Show Response Score boxes are checked on the Item Detail page.



Click the Preview sub-menu tab to access the Preview Study page. To initiate the preview, click on the Preview button. The system will launch your study for preview. The preview launch pop-up will indicate the launch is

complete and after you have clicked the Continue button, you will be navigated to your preview data collection website. The data collection pages will have a Preview watermark only while in preview mode.

Assessment Center <sup>™</sup>	
Welcome to PRO Manual Example	
If you already have a Login and Password, please enter them Login	in the boxes.
Password	
If you are a first time user, click Start below. Start If you have any questions or problems, please contact r-hann	ahan@northwestern.edu.

Complete all assessments to ensure everything is working as intended. If study configuration is not as expected or if an instrument, item or study parameter is identified as needing modification, you will need to make the appropriate modifications within the Instruments or Set-up tabs. Most study parameters (e.g. add/create instrument/item, create study arm, instrument order etc.) **may not be modified once the study has been launched.** Therefore it is essential to make any applicable revisions prior to launching your study. If you have problems making corrections, please contact administrators at help@assessmentcenter.net or 1-877-283-0596.

#### **Preview Study**

- 1. Click Build button on the Build Study page
- 2. Navigate to the Preview Study page by clicking the Preview sub-menu tab
- 3. Click the Preview button
- 4. Click Continue button after launch process is complete
- 5. Review data collection website for accuracy and complete assessment
- 6. Close browser
- 7. Open browser and navigate to Assessment Center (www.assessmentcenter.net)
- 8. Adjust preview participant schedule as necessary to review all assessments
- 9. Make any applicable modifications to instruments/item and study configuration, as applicable
- 10. Click Build button, if any changes were made to the study
- 11. Click Preview button to launch preview of study
- 12. Re-review Preview data collection pages, as applicable

### How do I create preview test logins?

When previewing a study, you will first have to self-register a participant by clicking the "Start" button on the Welcome page. After the initial preview, you can create additional pins to test different arms and time points. Go to the Administration tab and click the Find/Create Login button. This will navigate you to a blank registration page. Complete all applicable fields, be sure to select Preview from the Consent Obtained field, and then click the Register Participant button. This will register a test participant. You may then navigate to the study's data collection (preview) site and complete the assessment as a participant.

Please note there are some instances in which it may be necessary to review/test a data collection website *after* a study has officially been launched into data collection. A specific example is when administering Toolbox

instruments/batteries. In order to learn how to administer NIH Toolbox instruments, it is strongly recommended that you practice prior to working with a patient/participant. It is easiest to do this in the study you plan on using for actual data collection. To ensure preview (test) data is not included in the dataset you will later use for analyses, you must flag these logins as "Test" participants. To do so, after you have completed your tests, navigate to the Administration tab and find the logins/test participants by clicking the Participant List button. Find the hyperlink next to the test participant's login and password. If you collected name in Registration, the hyperlink will be the participant's name. If not, it will be "zzzMissingMissing". You will then be navigated to the Registration Details page. Change the Consent Obtained field from "Yes" to "Test." Click Register Participant to save the change. In all data exports, you will want to only analyze participants with a value of 1 in the Consent field. Other values (2= No consent, 3 = test participant, 4 = preview participant) are not suitable for analyses.

## How can I ensure I conduct a comprehensive review using the Preview feature?

During the preview of your data collection site, the study should be reviewed by all applicable study team members (e.g. RAs, Study Coordinators, PIs) to ensure all study elements and requirements are acceptable and accurate. It is important to review all study arms and assessments. Also, it is important to enter test data and export data to confirm data is being recorded as intended. All preview participants will appear in study exports with a consent value of 4. If you have created a custom CAT for your study it is important to ensure the CAT is scoring correctly. All public CATs and scored short forms have been tested and confirmed by Assessment Center administrators.

### How can I preview all study assessments?

Once you have launched your study for preview, the Administration tab is active and may be utilized during your study preview. To review more than one assessment, you should manually adjust a preview participant's schedule (see Modify Assessment Schedule section above). To access follow-up assessments, re-launch the preview by accessing the Preview Study page and clicking the Preview button. Enter the preview participant's login and password on the Welcome (home) page.

#### How can I endorse Terms & Conditions?

Prior to launching study, you must agree to applicable Terms & Conditions. Studies which require Terms & Conditions endorsement will be listed on the Launch Study page. To read and accept the Terms & Conditions, click on the © symbol for each study listed. A pop-up will then appear from which you can review and endorse the Terms & Conditions by clicking the Accept button.

Assessment Center <sup>®</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Build Preview Launch	Current	Study:	AC User Mar	nual_E	xample
Launch (AC User Manual_Example)					
LAUNCH STUDY					
You must agree to an instrument's Terms & Conditions before launching a study. Click on the © symbol to read and endorse Terms & Conditions. If you do not see a ©, there are no terms and conditions for endorsement. <u>PROMIS</u> Endorsed 04/07/2014					
Approve your study for data collection by checking the APPROVE button.					
LAUNCH STUDY					
WARNINGI Study items and instruments may not be revised after Launch.					

### Launch

## How do I create a website to collect participant data?

The Launch function allows you to create a data collection website. After you have reviewed your study configuration export, previewed your data collection site and endorsed applicable Terms & Conditions, you may click the Launch button to create the data collection website. The amount of time it takes for Assessment Center to complete the launch process is dependent upon the size of your study, i.e. number of instruments or assessments, and how many other studies are concurrently being launched. Once the launch is initiated, a progress screen will appear detailing the percentage of study content to have completed the launch process. Once the launch process is complete, a hyperlink to the data collection website will appear at the top of the Launch Study page.



## What information can be modified after a study has been launched?

Assessment Center allows users to update some Set-up fields after a study has been launched for data collection. These fields include the study end date, accrual goal, contact information, login screen welcome text, date assessments open, assessment window, text of consent documents, endorsement type, endorsement text, addition/deletion of registration fields, addition/deletion of required status for registration fields, and changes to registration field validation. After saving any of these modifications, it may be necessary to re-launch the study from the Launch Study page so that the modifications are applied to the data collection website. Note that changes cannot be made to instruments after a study has been launched for data collection. Therefore, it is highly recommended an extensive review of instruments and items is completed using the Preview feature.

## Why can't I modify a launched study?

Based on end-user feedback, Assessment Center does not allow revisions to study content. Researchers requested that the system preserve the integrity of a study so that at the time of analyses, it would be obvious exactly what instruments a participant completed rather than having to identify the time of completion and the study version that was available at that time. For this reason, it is critical to review the Study Configuration Report and preview your study prior to launch.

## **Study-Specific Data Collection Website**

#### How can I access my data collection website?

Once a data collection website has been generated, you may navigate to it by either clicking on the link at the top of the Launch page or typing in/copying the web address directly into your internet browser.

#### What devices may I use for data collection?

The data collection module may be run on any windows PC, laptop, or tablet PC. We currently support Internet Explorer in all the Windows environments. The Apple iPad is supported for data collection only. Apple iPhone and touch devices, Android tablets and handhelds, and other mobile devices are not yet supported.

### What does the data collection website look like?

The Welcome (home) page of the data collection website contains the welcome message created on the Basic Set-up page and default login text. When a participant navigates to the website for the first time he or she will click the Start button to begin the assessment. The home page contains login and password fields for participants to enter their information so they may complete follow-up assessments or complete an incomplete assessment. Participants will also enter a login and password if the research team has previously registered them within the Administration tab. Once a researcher registers a participant, they should provide the participant their login/password information so that the participant may enter them on the home page and be immediately navigated to the study instruments.

Assessment Center	
Welcome to PRO Manual Example	
Ir you aiready nave a Login and Password, please enter them in the bo	xes.
Password	
If you are a first time user, click Start below.	
If you have any questions or problems, please contact r-hanrahan@nor	thwestern.edu.
If you would like to bookmark this page, click this <b>Add to Favorites</b> link.	

If the participant has opted to complete the assessment in a non-English language (see Language section above), the Welcome page and all introductory pages will be presented in the specified language. The navigation button and messages on item pages will also be in the appropriate language.

Assessment Center <sup>®</sup>
Welcome to PRO Manual Example
Si ya tiene información de acceso y contraseña, ingréselos en los espacios correspondientes. Información de acceso Contraseña
Haga clic en Empezar a continuación si usa el sistema por primera vez.           Empezar           Empezar
Si tiene preguntas o algún problema, comuníquese con r-hanrahan@northwestern.edu. If you would like to bookmark this page, dick this <b>Add to Favorites</b> link.

After the Home page, participants will be navigated to applicable online consent forms and the registration pages. After these pages have been completed, users will receive a system generated login number and password so they may log back into the website to complete future assessments or if they do not complete the current in one sitting. The same login and password will be used for all study assessments.

Assessment Center <sup>**</sup>	
Click the button below to l Below is your password fo	begin the survey. Your participation in the study is appreciated. or the study. Please write down this login and password for your records.
	Your Login(51275)and Password(mus)
L	(Legis)

## Administration

## What is the purpose of the Administration tab?

The Administration section of Assessment Center is used to track accrual, review participant information, run reports and export study data. The default page under the Administration tab is the Study Overview page. There are several features on this page that will be frequently accessed once a study is in data collection. The Study Overview page will provide users with essential accrual information and reports. The other sub-menu tabs (Registration Details, Participant Details, Contact Information, Custom Fields, Reports, and Participant Data) are only accessed from within an individual participant's record.

## Accrual

## How do I track study participant accrual?

The Study Overview page displays the current study name in the top left hand corner. Below this is the Accrual "Dashboard". The dashboard provides a quick summary of current accrual status and can be used to calculate

response rates. Users may also access the Enrollment Report to review study accrual in more detail. The accrual dashboard is updated on 20 minute intervals.

#### Accrual Dashboard fields

- **Goal Participants:** The desired sample size entered during Study Set-up.
- **Registered:** The number of participants who have been assigned a study login number.
- Accessed Study: The number of participants who accessed the study, i.e. moved beyond the Welcome page.
- **Started:** The number of participants who have successfully endorsed the Consent form and/or completed registration.
- **Completed:** The number of participants who have seen all the study instruments and items.
- Off Study: The number of participants marked as Off Study by study staff.
- **Refusal:** The number of participants marked as Refused to Participate by study staff.

Assessment Center					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Overview         Registration Details         Participant Details         Contact Information         Custom Fields         Reports         Participant Data	Current	Study: A	AC User Man	ual_Ex	ample2
Study Overview					
Goal Participants Accessed Study Registered Started Completed Off Study Refusal       25     2     1     0     0					
To create a new participant registration record, click the Find/Create Login button. Enter participante login then click Find/Create Login button Participant List Participant List	cipant Lis	st buttor	n below.		
Find/create Login					
Data Dictionary Report Enrollment Report					
Request and Download Data					
When your data is available, an email notification will be sent to the email below. Click buttons to request or download data. Please make sure that you are able to accept emails from this site.					
r-hanrahan@northwestern.edu					

#### **Participant Registration**

#### How can I access a participant's registration information?

There are two ways in which a user can access a specific participant's registration records. The first is an open search field in which a user must input a participant's study login number and click the Find/Create Login button. This is particularly useful when a study participant has contacted the study team because of a lost or forgotten password. The second way to access registration information is the Participant List button. When a user clicks on this button, a dialog box will appear which contains the last name, first name, login and password of each participant within a given study. The user may click on a participant's name and be directed to his/her registration information. If name was not collected during at registration, the list will display the text "zzz-{Missing}, {Missing}". This text is also a hyperlink which may be used to access the participant's registration.

Assessment Center <sup>™</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Price       Admin       My Account       <	ial_Ex	ample2			
Study Overview Study: AC User Manual_Example2					
Goal Participants Accessed Study Registered Started Completed Off Study Refusal					
25 2 2 1 0 0 0					
To create a new participant registration record, click the Find/Create Login button. Enter participant login then click Find/Create Login button to view an existing participant registration. Find/create Login	icipant L	ist butto	n below.		
NIH Inclusion Enrollment Report Data Dictionary Report Enrollment Report					
Request and Download Data					
When your data is available, an email notification will be sent to the email below. Click buttons to request or download data. Please make sure that you are able to accept emails from this site.					
r-hanrahan@northwestern.edu					

## What participant registration information can be accessed by study staff?

To be able to access registration pages for a particular study, staff must have the Study Administrator, Study Participant Administrator or Study Data Entry Administrator roles. After conducting a participant search, the first registration page to be accessed is the Registration Details page. Once this page has been accessed, users may also navigate to the subsequent registration pages, i.e. Participant Details, Contact Information, Custom Fields, Reports and Participant Data, by using the sub-menu tabs.

The Registration Details page contains study-specific information such as consent status, password, date of first assessment and administration language. Some of the information on the Registration Details pages is default information that is automatically populated when a participant registers to the study. If you are completing an assessment yourself for quality assurance purposes, you would select Test from the Consent Obtained field. This will segregate test data from true participant data in the database and data exports. If a participant must withdraw from a study for any reason, the reason for withdrawal can be recorded on this page using the Off-study drop list. If a participant refused to participant in the study and you would like to record the reason, use the Non-Enrollment Reason drop list.

Assessment	: Center <sup>™</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Asse	mble Administration	PDFs A	dmin	My Account	Help	Logout
Overview <u>Registration Details</u> Participar	t Details Contact Information Custom Fields Reports Participant Data	Current S	tudy: /	AC User Man	ual_Ex	ample2
To register a new participant, enter inforr button. Please navigate to Participant De Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Partic registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required	nation below and click Register Participant Login: 82623 tails, Contact Information and Custom ipant button to ensure all necessary for consented participants					
Study Arm:	default					
Schedule:	Default View Schedule Details					
Date Approach:	4/30/2014					
Site:	Internet V					
Login: (optional)	82623 Create participant login					
** Password:	usg					
Study code:	6002					
Baseline:						
** Consent:	Yes No Test Preview					
Non-Enrollment Reason:	T					
Off Study:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
Language:	English					

The Participant Details page contains sociodemographic information such as race, age, and gender. This page also includes a comments field that may be used to input additional details about a participant.

Assessment Center					
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Overview   Registration Details Participant Details Contact Information   Custom Fields   Reports   Participant Data	Current	Study:	AC User Mar	nual_Ex	kample2
To register a new participant, enter information below and click Register Participant button. Please navigate to Participant Details, Contact Information and Custom Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Participant button to ensure all necessary registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required for consented participants					
Age:     33     Comments:       DOB:     01/14/1965]					
Race: White Black or African American Asian American Indian or Alaska Native Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islanders Other Not Provided					
Doctor:					

The Contact Information page contains details of how a participant may be contacted. If this information was provided by participants on the registration screens, only those variables marked as "Include" in the Registration submenu tab will be populated with data. It is important to record the first and last name of participants if conducting a longitudinal study as this is the best means of locating registration records when a participant has a question, issue or has lost their login/password.

Assessmer	nt Center™					
Studies Instruments Set-up A	ssemble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help	Logout
Overview   Registration Details   Partic	ipant Details Contact Information Custom Fields   Reports   Participant Data	Current	Study: /	AC User Man	ial_Ex	ample2
To register a new participant, enter in button. Please navigate to Participant Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Participant registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only requ	formation below and click Register Participant Login: 82623 Details, Contact Information and Custom articipant button to ensure all necessary ired for consented participants					
First Name:						
Last Name:	Kachel					
Street:	625 N. Michigan					
City:	Chicago					
State:	IL .					
Zip:	60611					
EMail:						
Day Ph. #:						
Cell Ph. #:	555-555-6767					
Call Time:	Evenings					
Comments:						

The Custom Fields page contains the custom registration fields as defined on the Registration page of the Set-up tab. The custom label field(s) and participant's response(s) will be displayed. If no custom fields were included, this page will be blank.

Assessment Center	
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Administration	PDFs Admin MyAccount Help Logout
Overview         Registration Details         Participant Details         Contact Information         Custom Fields         Reports         Participant Data	Current Study: AC User Manual_Example2
To register a new participant, enter information below and click Register Participant Login: 82623 button. Please navigate to Participant Details, Contact Information and Custom Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Participant button to ensure all necessary registration data has been included. ** Required Fields ** Only required for consented participants	
Enter your date of diagnosis:: 09/13/2013	
Enter the number of nights you have spent in the hospital in the past year:	
Enter the name of the hospital at which you had surgery:: Northwestern Memorial	

## How can study staff register participants?

Assessment Center allows researchers to complete the registration process for participants within the Administration tab. Note that the study must be launched in order for registration to occur. To register a participant, click on the Find/Create Login button. Complete applicable fields on the Registration Details page. Click on the additional registration submenu tabs (Participant Details, Contact Information, Custom Fields) and fill in any required information. When finished, click on the Register Participant button at the bottom of the page. The Login will appear in the top right. Note that researcher-based registration requires that consent is obtained outside of Assessment Center. A login is not able to be created if the Consent Field is not completed. Additionally, researcher-based registration assumes that a researcher is entering all required registration information (e.g., demographic variables). A participant will not see any consent or registration screens if his or her login was created by a researcher.

#### **Register Study Participant**

- 1. Navigate to the Administration tab
- 2. Click Find/Create Login button on the Study Overview page
- 3. Complete all applicable fields on the Registration Details page
- 4. Click on additional sub-menu tabs to complete all required/applicable fields
- 5. Click Register Participant button
- 6. Note assigned Login number in bold blue text at the top of each registration page

#### How should a participant registered by study staff access the data collection website?

After registration is complete, a study participant should be provided the data collection website URL which can be found on the Launch page within Set-up. Once they access the study Welcome (home) page, they will be asked to enter their assigned login and password and click Start. They will then be navigated to the first assessment item. Alternatively, you may provide them a participant-specific URL created once you finalize their registration, i.e. click Register Participant button. This URL will allow the participant to bypass the study Welcome page, i.e. they will not be required to enter their login/password before accessing the study assessment. The participant-specific URL is longer than the URL created on the Launch Study page. Therefore, the URL should be given to a participant electronically, e.g. email, so they may simply click on the hyperlink.

Studies Instruments Set-up Asse	emble Administration			PDFs	Admin My	Account	Help I	Logout
Overview Registration Details Participa	ant Details Contact Information	on Custom Fields   I	Reports   Participant Data	Curren	t Study: AC U	lser Manu	al_Exa	mple2
To register a new participant, enter infor button. Please navigate to Participant De Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Parti registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required	' mation below and click Regis etails, Contact Information ar icipant button to ensure all n d for consented participants	ter Participant Loy dd Custom acessary	gin: 82623				_	
Study Arm:	dofault							
Schedule:	Default T	View Schedule Details						
Date Approach:	4/30/2014							
Site:	Internet							
Login: (optional)	82623	Create participant login						
** Password:	usa							
Study code:	6002							
Baseline:								
** Consent:	● Yes ○ No ○ Test	Preview						
Non-Enrollment Reason:			•					
Off Study:		•						
Language:	Fnalish 🔹							
The registered participant can access the https://msswebtest.fsm.northwestern.edu Module=48&txtUID2=82623&txtPVD2=usg	eir study at: u/assessmentcenter/qa/ac1/Action.as &Action=autologin&Study=AC_User_I	px? /anual_Example2&locale=en	n-US					

## May study staff create a participant login?

A login may be created by study staff on the Registration Details page. To enable the login field, check the "Create Participant Login" box. The login must be between 5 and 10 characters long, may contain both letters and numbers and may not contain spaces or special characters. When you create a login, you must also enter a password. The system will not automatically assign a password. Passwords must be at least one character and can be up to 25 characters. Passwords may contain any combination of letters, numbers, or special characters.



#### **Create Participant Login**

- 1. Navigate to the Administration tab
- 2. Click Find/Create Login button on the Study Overview page
- 3. Check "Create Participant Login" box
- 4. Enter a login containing letters and/or numbers without spaces or special characters
- 5. Complete all subsequent, applicable registration fields
- 6. Click Register Participant button

## Assessment Center

Assessment	<b>O</b> cinter				
Studies Instruments Set-up Asse	mble Administration	PDFs	Admin	My Account	Help Logout
Overview Registration Details Participar	t Details Contact Information Custom Fields Reports Participant Data	Curren	t Study:	AC User Manu	al_Example2
To register a new participant, enter inforr button. Please navigate to Participant De Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Partic registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required	nation below and click Register Participant Login: 82623 tails, Contact Information and Custom ipant button to ensure all necessary for consented participants				
Study Arm:	default				
Schedule:	Default View Schedule Details				
Date Approach:	4/30/2014				
Site:					
Login: (optional)	82623 Greate participant login				
** Password:	usq				
Study code:	6002				
Baseline:					
** Consent:	Yes No Test Preview				
Non-Enrollment Reason:	τ				
Off Study:	τ				
Language:	English				

#### What triggers Assessment Center to know when to open the first assessment for a given participant?

A schedule is determined by the date in the Baseline field on Registration Details. If a researcher completes the Baseline field when registering a participant, the study schedule will be established and the baseline assessment window will open. If the baseline field is left blank, the study schedule will not be established until the participant logs into the data collection website. This is useful if a researcher is not requiring a participant complete the baseline assessment on a specific date, but at the participant's convenience in the future. If a participant self-registers, the baseline date is stored as the date the login and password are assigned.

#### How can a researcher assign a participant to a specific study arm?

If a study has more than one arm, how a participant registers is important. If participant self-registration is utilized, Assessment Center will assign each participant to a study arm. A researcher can look up what study arm was assigned through the Administration tab. If the researcher registers participants, a specific study arm may be selected at that time.

#### How can study staff record information about those who didn't enroll in the study?

Assessment Center allows for a researcher to track participants that were approached but not enrolled in a study. First, a researcher would click on the Find/Create Login button on the Administration tab's Study Overview page and be navigated to a blank Registration Details page. A researcher would select No in the Consent field and optionally select a response from the Non-enrollment Reason drop list. If a researcher has information on other registration variables such as age, race, or name, this information can be entered on the other registration submenu tabs. Nonenrollment information is aggregated in the Enrollment Report.

## How can study staff take a participant off of a study?

From the Administration tab, access the participant's record either through the Find/Create Login or Participant List buttons. On the Registration Details page, select the appropriate Off-Study reason from the drop list provided. Do not modify the Consent field. Click on the Register Participant button to save changes. This information automatically updates the Accrual Dashboard and the accrual reports.

Studies Instruments Set-up Ass	emble Administration	PDFs Admin My Account Help Logout
Overview Registration Details Participa	Int Details   Contact Information   Custom Fields   Reports   Participant Da	a Current Study: AC User Manual_Example2
To register a new participant, enter info button. Please navigate to Participant D Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Part registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only require	mation below and click Register Participant Login: 82623 etails, Contact Information and Custom cipant button to ensure all necessary d for consented participants	
Study Arm:	default •	
Schedule:	Default View Schedule Details	
Date Approach:	4/30/2014	
Site:	Internet 🔻	
Login: (optional)	82623 Create participant login	
** Password:	usg	
Study code:	6002	
Baseline:		
** Consent:	Yes No Test Preview	
Non-Enrollment Reason:		
Off Study:		
	English	

## Link Participant Data

## How can I link multiple participants?

In some studies, multiple participants need to be "linked" to one another so that their data can be analyzed together, e.g. proxy studies. This can be achieved in Assessment Center through a variety of strategies.

- 1. When a participant is registered by a researcher, the Study code field can be used to link participants by entering a researcher defined ID code. For example, you would create registration records for a parent and child and give them both the same Study code (e.g. 1001) so that statisticians can use this field to associate the two sets of data.
  - Another way to link participant records when participants are registered by a researcher would be to
    use the Create Participant Login feature and assign the "linked" participants similar logins. For
    example, in a parent proxy study you could assign a parent and child the same login number followed
    by differing letters (e.g. 1001p and 1001c). In this example, it would be important for the research
    staff to record the meaning of each letter and communicate this with the analysis team. Please note
    multiple participants may not have the exact same login within the same study.
- 2. If a participant is registering themselves via the data collection website, a custom registration field or an item could be used to link participants. In this case, the custom registration or item would need to ask a question in which the participant could easily answer but would also be unique enough so that multiple participants would not respond with the same response. For example, in a parent proxy study you could ask the parent to provide their child's name and/or date of birth while asking the child to provide this same information.
  - Another way to link participant records when utilizing participant self-registration is to have the participant and proxy complete the same assessment. For example, the proxy instruments could be the first set of instruments, a transition screen (i.e. item with Informational response type) could be

included immediately prior to the participant items which informs the proxy they have completed their part of the assessment and the participant should complete the remaining items.

#### Assessment Schedule

#### How can I view a participant's assessment schedule?

To view a participant's schedule, you must access his/her registration record within the Administration tab, and then click the View Schedule Details hyperlink on the Registration Details sub-menu tab.

Assessment	Center <sup>®</sup>			
Studies Instruments Set-up Asse	nble Administration	PDFs Admin	My Account	Help Logout
Overview Registration Details Participar	t Details Contact Information Custom Fields Reports Participant Data	Current Study:	AC User Manua	al_Example2
To register a new participant, enter inforr button. Please navigate to Participant De Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Partic registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required	ation below and click Register Participant Login: 82623 rails, Contact Information and Custom pant button to ensure all necessary for consented participants			
Study Arm: Schedule: Date Approach: Site: Login: (optional) ** Password: Study code:	default     View Schedule Details       4/30/2014     Internet       82623     Create participant login       usg     6002			
Baseline: ** Consent:	Yes No Test Preview			
Non-Enrollment Reason: Off Study:	<b>T</b>			
Language:	English T			

#### How can I change a participant's assessment schedule?

Sometimes a researcher may wish to change a participant's assessment schedule. For example, when pilot testing a longitudinal study to ensure that it is functioning correctly, a researcher may want to be able to access follow-up assessments on the same day as the baseline assessment. Or, a participant may be granted an extension of the assessment. After clicking on the View Schedule Details hyperlink, a pop-up window with the participant's assessment schedule will appear. Assessments that are currently open are green. Assessments that are past due are red. Assessments that are in the future are gray. Start and end dates are displayed. The span between start and end date corresponds with the Window variable entered on the Advanced Study Set-up page. To implement a date change, first enter the new date, and then click the pencil icon to the left of the row. It is necessary to modify one row at a time. Note that each assessment has a row labeled Participant View and a row labeled Clinician View. You will want to change both rows.

Participant Schedule			
Scheduled Event	Mode of Access	Start Date End Date	
Assessment	Participant View	08/20/2009 08/24/2009	
Assessment	Clinician View	08/20/2009 08/24/2009	



#### **Participant Reports**

#### What participant-level reports are available?

Studies that include a PROMIS Profile instrument or a subset of adult PROMIS CATs will automatically generate single time point reports for each participant. These reports are located under the Reports sub-menu tab. The date an instrument was completed is listed as a hyperlink, click to open the report. If no PROMIS v1.0 CATs or Profile instruments were included in your study, this page will be blank.

Assessment	t Center <sup>®</sup>					
Studies Instruments Set-up Asse	mble Administration	PDFs A	dmin	My Account	Help I	Logout
Overview <u>Registration Details</u> Participan	nt Details Contact Information Custom Fields Reports Participant Data	Current St	tudy: A	AC User Manu	al_Exa	mple2
To register a new participant, enter inforr button. Please navigate to Participant De Fields tabs prior to clicking Register Parti registration data has been included. ** Required Fields * Only required	nation below and click Register Participant Login: 86918 tails, Contact Information and Custom ipant button to ensure all necessary I for consented participants					
Study Arm:	default •					
Schedule:	Default View Schedule Details					
Date Approach:	4/16/2014					
Site:	Internet T					
Login: (optional)	86918 Create participant login					
** Password:	nsw					
Study code:	6001					
Baseline:	4/16/2014					
** Consent:	Yes No Test Preview     Preview					
Non-Enrollment Reason:	T					
Off Study:						
Language:	English					

## What information do the CAT and Profile reports provide?

The PROMIS CAT and PROMIS Profile reports open as PDF documents that can be printed or saved outside of Assessment Center. For each domain, the participant's standard score is provided along with information on how that score compares with other people in the general population. If age and gender was collected during registration, the participant's score is compared to other individuals in his/her age group and of his/her gender. The second portion of the report includes a graph showing scores with standard error bars.



## **Researcher Reports**

#### Are there study reports available?

There are three standard reports for researchers on the Study Overview page: the Data Dictionary report, the NIH Inclusion Enrollment Report, and the Enrollment Report. These reports open in PDF format. They can be printed or saved outside of Assessment Center.



The data dictionary report is a tool for study analysts. The report details all instruments, items and provides a list of item IDs and scoring information.

Data Dictionary: UAT215	
PROMIS SF-Depression 1.0	
EDDEP04	
In the past 7 days	
I felt worthless	
1 = Never	
2 = Rarely	
3 = Sometimes	
4 = Often	
5 = Always	
EDDEP05	
In the past 7 days	
I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	
1 = Never	
2 = Rarely	
3 = Sometimes	
4 = Often	
5 = Always	
EDDEP06	
In the past / days	
1 = Never	
I = Never	
2 = Rareiy	
J = Offen	
5 = Always	
J = Always	

The NIH inclusion enrollment report is a tool for monitoring study accrual. The format adheres to the requirements from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) for periodic progress reports. Information about gender is cross tabulated with race and ethnicity information. This report is populated by data from the registration fields and is automatically updated as new participants are registered.

The Enrollment Report is a tool for monitoring study accrual. The report details

5	y Ethnicity and	Race				
			<b>.</b>			
Ethnic Category	Females	Males	Unknown or Not Reported	Total		
Hispanic or Latino	0	1	1	2		
Not Hispanic or Latino	1	1	0	2		
Unknown (individuals not reporting ethnicity)	1	0	0	1		
Ethnic Category: Total of All Subjects	2	2	1	5		
			Unknown or			
Racial Category	Females	Males	Not Reported	Total		
American Indian/Alaska Native	0	1	0	1		
Asian	1	0	1	2		
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islanders	0	0	0	0		
Black or African American	0	0	0	0		
White	0	0	0	0		
More Than One Race	1	0	0	1		
Unknown, Not Reported or Skipped	0	1	0	1		
Racial Category: Total of All Subjects	2	2	1	5		
PART B. HISPANIC ENROLLMENT RE	PORT: Numbe (Cumulative	er of Hispanic )	s or Latinos Enr	olled to Date		
Racial Category	Females	Males	Unknown or Not Reported	Total		
American Indian/Alaska Native	0	1	0	1		
Asian	0	0	1	1		
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islanders	0	0	0	0		
Black or African American	0	0	0	0		
White	0	0	0	0		
More Than One Race	0	0	0	0		
Unknown, Not Reported or Skipped	0	0	0	0		

Inclusion Enrollment Report

			I	PRO	MIS	S EN	R	OLL	EC	) (Co	n	sent	ec	d and	d c	on-st	u	dy)							
			Ag	e		Gen	der			Race								Ethnicity							
Site	Count	Mear	(SD)	Range	Fe	male	N	lale	N Am	ative erican	А	slan	E	Black	Ha Pac	walian cific is.	v	Vhite	0	ther	His	panic	Non Hispan	IC F	Not Provideo
Internet	0	0	(0)	0 - 0	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0 0.00	%	0 0.00%
Tota	al O	0	(0)	0 - 0	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0.00	%	0 0.00%

current counts of study participants by enrolled, those off-study and those refused by gender and race. This report is automatically updated as participants are registered for the study. Demographic information in this report is pulled from registration information.
# **Assessment Center**<sup>®</sup>

### **Study Data**

### **Data Entry**

# How can study staff review and enter participant-level data?

The Administration tab allows for a researcher with appropriate permission to review and/or enter participant-level data from the Participant Data page. For example, a research assistant in the clinic may want to review a participant's responses to check for missing data or enter data on a clinician rated form. The Participant Data page is **NOT** intended for participant self-report or researcher interview. The CAT administration engine and customization (templates, branching, randomization) are **NOT** integrated into the Participant Data page.

The Participant Data page displays a list of all applicable assessments on the left panel of the page. Clicking on the name of the assessment will expand the list to show all instruments. Text color indicates a participant's progress within the study schedule, red indicates an assessments has occurred in the past, i.e. the participant is no longer in the defined assessment window, green indicates an assessment is currently open and black indicates an assessment is in the future and not currently available. If an instrument has line through it, the participant *viewed* all items within that instrument. This could mean that a participant responded to all items within the instrument, or accessed each item screen but chose to skip it without answering.

To review or enter participant data, click on the applicable assessment, then the instrument name. This action will open the questionnaire in the main panel of the page. The system defaults to presenting all items in a sequential list. For CAT instruments, all items are listed but only those that were presented to the participant will have a response option selected. Item response score and response text will be displayed. While response scores are always shown on the Participant Data page, scores are only displayed on the data collection website if the "Show Response Scores" box is checked on the Item Detail page. You can use the scroll bar on the right to navigate to see every item in the instrument. If you are entering data using these screens, be sure to click on the Save button before moving on to the next instrument. To be able to view the Participant Data page, staff must have the Study Administrator or Study Participant Administrator roles. To be able to modify participant data, staff must have the Study Data Entry Administrator role.

Assessment Ce	nter™		
Studies Instruments Set-up Assemble Admir	istration	PDFs Admin My	Account Help Logout
Overview   Registration Details   Participant Details   C	ontact Information Custom Fields Reports Participant Data	Current Study: AC U	ser Manual Example 3
	Login: 16610		
Scheduled Events Assessment (1)	In the past 7 days		A
1Form(s) PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Sleep-Related Impairment	I tried to sleep whenever I could.		
PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Pain Behavior PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Pailgue PROMIS DE v1.0 - Parenting Bh	1 - Never		
Assessment (2)	2 - Rarely		
PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Sleep-Related Impairment PROMIS Bank v1.0 - Pain Behavior	3 - Sometimes		
PROMIS Bank VI.0 - Parigue PROMIS SF v1.0 - Depression 8b	4 - Often		
Assessment (3)	5 - Always		
	In the past 7 days		
	My daytime activities were disturbed by poor sleep.		
	1 - Never		
	2 - Rarely		
	Image:		
	4 - Often		
	5 - Always		-
	Save		

### **Response Tracking**

### How can research staff track participant responses to identify at-risk responses?

A researcher may want to track responses to specific items in a timely manner over the course of a study (please see previous topic to understand how to access participant data). For example, a researcher may want to identify responses that may indicate a participant is experiencing thoughts that may result in self-harm or harm to other people. The first step in tracking participant's at-risk responses is to identify which instruments within your study contain items which have concepts, e.g. suicidal ideation, that should be monitored. Research staff should be instructed to review a participant's response to such items after each assessment. Intervention thresholds should be established by the research team prior to the start of the study, e.g. response of quite a bit or very much to the item "I have thought about suicide" will result in the research staff contacting available mental health staff. Research teams are advised to create standard operating procedures so that staff can consistently follow-up when participants meet or exceed the established thresholds. Assessment Center does not have the capability of automatically communicating at-risk responses to research staff. Therefore, it is of utmost importance that staff monitors participant data to ensure individuals who are at-risk will be followed-up with properly.

#### How do I access the study database?

Study data can be exported from Assessment Center by running five different exports. The data exports open CSV files and can be opened and saved outside of Assessment Center in Excel, SAS or SPSS. Note that only 255 columns of data will fit in an Excel worksheet. If a study has many instruments and assessments, the CSV file should be opened in a statistical software package to avoid truncating data. The data exports must be requested by clicking the Request Data buttons on the Study Overview page. The system will generate the export and send an email to the address entered in the Email Notification field once the export is ready for download. Once the email is received, you may click on the Download Data button which will open the CSV file. The file is organized by participant, then assessment.

#### What is included in each data export?

The first export, Assessment Data, contains a de-identified dataset of all study instrument and item data; no registration data is included. Note that this export is organized so that each item in each assessment for each participant is its own unique row. This allows for capturing additional information (e.g. time and date stamp of response), but is not organized as typically requested by statistical analysis programs. Instructions for pivoting the data set are provided in a later section of this manual. The second export, Assessment Scores contains participant's t-scores for CAT and short form instruments. The t-scores are based on general population norms. These scores can be used to evaluate an individual's status.

The third export, Registration Data, contains the data entered into the registration fields. The fourth export, Consent Data, includes information from consent forms. It includes whether or not a participant endorsed a consent checkbox, the text entered in a consent textbox, and the date and time when consent was provided. Finally, the fifth export, Pivoted Assessment Data, presents assessment data in a format that is typically used by statistical analysts. Each participant is represented in a single row with each column represented scores from an item. Item columns are organized in alphabetically order based upon the item ID. In a longitudinal study, each assessment is stored in a different row. Currently, the Pivoted Assessment Data Export is only functional for smaller studies.

#### Who can view my Study data?

Only members of the study team with appropriate permission assigned on the Study Team page, i.e. role of Data and Statistics Administrator, will be able to access the data export files.

# Assessment Center<sup>®</sup>



# **Export Field Descriptions**

### What variables are included in the data exports?

For a detailed list and description of all the fields in each data export, please refer to Assessment Center Help files at <a href="https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac1/Help/index.html">https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac1/Help/index.html</a>

## Can I look at my data in the middle of a study?

Users can run exports at any time during a study. To retain a version of the export, without adding additional cases, users must save the export files outside of Assessment Center. The data exports will always contain all study data and will not be able to truncate data based upon previous exports.

#### **Pivot Data Export**

#### How can I pivot the Assessment Data export or other export files?

As previously noted, the Assessment Data export is organized with each item in each assessment for each participant in its own unique row. The Pivoted Assessment export is functional only for smaller studies. However, one can pivot or transpose larger datasets using Excel's PivotTable function. Using this method, the numeric data from any Assessment Center export can be transposed into a "flat file" as long as there are no more than 1,048,576 rows in the data export file. If using a version prior to 2007, the row limit is 65,536.

To pivot a data export, first, open the Assessment Center data export .csv file in Excel and saved on your computer. Next, delete the first two header rows at the top of the worksheet. Then I, select the insert tab and click on the PivotTable button.

# Assessment Center<sup>™</sup>

Once you have clicked on the PivotTable button, the "Create PivotTable" dialog box will appear (see Figure 1). Select the options "Select a table or range" and "New Worksheet." It is important to verify that the entire data set is selected (selected cells will have a flashing dotted line around the perimeter). Next, drag "PIN" to the white field

Cr	eate PivotTable	?			
d	Choose the data that you want to analyze				
	Select a table or rail	nge			
	Table/Range:	AssessmentData_20090408!\$A\$1:\$W\$15436			
	🔘 Use an external data source				
Choose Connection					
Connection name:					
Choose where you want the PivotTable report to be placed					
<u>N</u> ew Worksheet					
© Existing Worksheet					
	Location:				
		OK Cancel			
		Figure 2			

Value Field Settings	x			
Source Name: Score				
Custom Name: Average of Score				
Summarize by Show values as	_			
<u>S</u> ummarize value field by				
Choose the type of calculation that you want to use to summarize the data from selected field				
Sum Count				
Max Max Min				
Product				
Number Format OK Cance				
Fig	ure 3			

under the heading "Row Labels." (see Figure 2) Drag ItemID to the field under Column Labels. Drag Score to the Values Field, and DataType to Report Filter. Click on the triangle in the yellow field under values. Click on "Value Field Settings" in the drop-down menu that appears. In the Value Field Settings dialog box, select "Average" on the "Summarize by" tab, and click "OK." (see Figure 3). Click on the upper right-hand x to close the PivotTable Field List dialog box. On the pivot table, click on the triangle button next to DataType (all). In the box that appears, check the box next to "Select Multiple Items". Click the OK button. To complete the process, click on the "Insert Worksheet" icon on the tabs at the bottom of the Excel window. Select and copy all fields from the PivotTable you wish to keep in your final data set, and then paste them into the new worksheet.



Figure 1

You can now save the final data set in the format you wish to work with (xls, csv, txt, etc.) by selecting "Save As" from the menu in the upper left corner of the Excel window.

## When I include checkbox item, how do I unbundle the bitwise value in the data export?

Bitwise values are used for checkbox items. Each response is assigned a numeric value (i.e., 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32, 64, etc.). These values are summed and the total is stored as the score for the item ID. Therefore, if a participant has a score of 9, you know that he or she endorsed the first and fourth responses (scores 1 and 8 summed). For statistical analyses, you will need to unbundle this summed score and create additional variables to indicate if a participant endorsed the first response (yes/no), second response (yes/no) and so on. In SAS, you can use the BAND (bitwise logical AND operator) function below. In this example below, we have a checkbox item named Treatment\_Regimen. The response choices are Treatment\_A, Treatment\_B, Treatment\_C, and Treatment\_D.

#### if Treatment\_Regimen ne. then do;

treatmenta= (band (Treatment\_Regimen, 1)>0); treatmentb=(band(Treatment \_Regimen, 2)>0); treatmentc=(band(Treatment \_Regimen, 4)>0); treatmentd=(band(Treatment \_Regimen, 8)>0);

```
end;
```

# **Protected Health Information (PHI)**

## Is there Protected Health Information (PHI) in data exports?

Any data export could contain PHI based upon the data fields included in your study. If include in a study, the system will flag the following registration fields as containing PHI in data exports, date of birth, doctor, last name, first name, street, city, state, zip, email, phone 1, phone 2 will always be marked as containing PHI. Users may choose to flag other fields as PHI, i.e. any custom item, consent endorsement text fields and certain custom registration fields.

When a data field is marked as containing PHI, all data collected in this field will be flagged in the database and will be reported as containing PHI in applicable data exports. In applicable data export PHI fields, "True" indicates a PHI checkbox was endorsed by study staff during set-up. This feature is intended to aid in de-identification efforts and protect participant privacy.

Data exports can only be accessed by study team members with appropriate permissions. However, once the data is exported outside of Assessment Center, the user is responsible for adopting security measures and regulations.

# Help

## What should I do if I am having problems with Assessment Center?

Assessment Center includes a Help feature which can be accessed at any time via the link in the top right corner of the application. The organization of Help parallels that of Assessment Center. Help includes field definitions, explanations of how to complete particular tasks, tips, and additional useful information. Help opens into a second window to allow the user's work to not be disturbed while seeking additional information.

Users may also contact center administrators at <u>help@assessmentcenter.net</u> or 1-877-283-0596 for assistance or access further Assessment Center technical documentation, e.g FAQs, Scoring Manuals, from the Assessment Center homepage, http://assessmentcenter.net/.

# **Requirement Questions**

#### What information should I know about my study before setting it up in Assessment Center?

It is helpful to know your study protocol before attempting to set up a study-specific website in Assessment Center.

Information you should know includes:

- 1. What instruments are in my study? (Study Content page)
- 2. Are any instruments included that are completed by someone other than the participant (e.g., clinician rating)? (Arm/Assessment Details page)
- 3. How are responses for each item scored? (Item detail page)
- 4. How should items appear on a computer screen to participants? (template) (Instrument Customization page)
- 5. How are items ordered? Sequential? Branched? Randomized? Grouped together at all? (Instrument customization page)
- 6. How are instruments ordered? Sequential? Randomized? Grouped together? (Arm/Assessment Details page)
- 7. Do you need any transition screens? How should they be phrased? (Study Content & Item Detail page)
- 8. How many assessments are included in this study? (Advanced Set-up page)

# Assessment Center<sup>®</sup>

- 9. What is the timing of each assessment? Specifically, how many days does a participant have to complete an assessment? How many days are between each assessment? (Advanced Set-up page)
- 10. Are there multiple arms in the study? (Advanced Set-up page)
- 11. Are participants assigned to a study arm by the system or placed in a study arm by a researcher?
- 12. What instruments are administered in each assessment for each arm? (Arm/Assessment Details page)
- 13. What protected health (e.g., name, address, date of birth) and other registration information (e.g., gender, race, ethnicity) need to be captured? (Registration page)
- 14. Who else on the study team should have access to the study site? What is his/her role? (e.g., need to export data, enter data, register participants). (Team Member page)
- 15. Will an online consent form be needed? (Consent page)
- 16. Do some participants receive different consents? (e.g., 3 sites with 3 different institutional consent forms would require 3 studies with separate URLs)
- 17. Will participants register themselves or will a study team member register participants?
- 18. Who should participants contact with questions? (Basic Set-up page)
- 19. What information should be on the study welcome screen? (Basic Set-up page)
- 20. When should the study close? (e.g., date or accrual goal) (Basic Set-up page)
- 21. Does the study include scored instruments, e.g. CATs; do they have parameters? (CAT Parameters page)

### How can I reduce errors in creating a study?

Utilization of the study Preview featureand going through all assessments as a test participant are highly recommended before beginning participant accrual. The Preview feature described earlier will allow you to check the format of items including how they appear in the selected template, testadminstraiton engines andverify all instruments are included as planned and instructions or transition screens are appropriate. Completing all assessments as a participant and exporting the data will minimize the likelihood of conducting data collection with errors or bugs. The Assessment Center Administrator (help@assessmentcenter.net or 1-877-283-0596) is available to address any problems you may encounter that are not covered within this manual.

# **Copyright and Terms of Use**

#### What are my responsibilities when using a PROMIS Instrument?

Additional information about PROMIS instruments including bank development history, available banks and short forms, domain definitions, administration, scoring, validity, and interpretation is available on the PROMIS website (<u>www.nihpromis.org</u>). Additional information including limitations of use, copyright, and expectations for sharing summary data are outlined in the Terms and Conditions (https://www.assessmentcenter.net/TandC.aspx). All users indicate agreement in adhering to the Terms and Conditions at the time that they register in Assessment Center. The Terms and Conditions include a lot of information. Here are a few highlights. First, users of PROMIS version 1.0 tools are required to submit a brief report to <u>help@assessmentcenter.net</u> including sample demographic information, clinical data sufficient to define the sample without indicating treatment response data, and PROMIS score distributions (e.g., baseline mean and standard deviations or change scores blinded to treatment information) for internal review. No data will be published without the participation of the submitter. Second, clinical researchers are strongly encouraged to collaborate with a PROMIS investigator when applying these instruments to their research. Third, any publication or presentation of results should include a statement that PROMIS v1.0 instruments were used and reference <u>www.nihpromis.org</u> for further information. Finally, permission to use PROMIS v1.0 instruments does not grant permission to modify the wording or layout of items, to distribute to others for a fee, or to translate items into any other language.

### What are my responsibilities when using Assessment Center?

Assessment Center is provided for use by the clinical research community without charge. Additional information about use is available in the Terms and Conditions document (https://www.assessmentcenter.net/TandC.aspx). As an Assessment Center user, adherence to the Terms and Conditions guidelines is required.

# Security

## What security exists for Assessment Center?

Assessment Center utilizes multiple layers of protection for its users. First, it uses role-based permissions. The study creator decides who to add to the study team and assign each member the appropriate level of permission. Team members will be able to view information in your study, based on their roles. Assessment Center users that are not part of the study team will not have access to any study information or participant data. New team members are automatically assigned the role of Associate; this role has read-only access to study elements. To reassign roles, select a team member's name, and then check the Role box(s) that best identifies their responsibilities within the study.

The only roles that will be able to view participants' data and personal health information are Study Administrator (study creator's default role), Study Participant Administrator, Study Data Entry Administrator, and Data & Statistics Administrator. It is important to be very cautious and thoughtful when assigning these roles. Only the Study Data Entry Administrator may edit participant data while only the Data & Statistics Administrator may export raw data files.

You can check more than one Role box for your team members, in any combination that is useful to you. Each role has very specific rights. For example, some roles allow a team member to modify items whereas some roles allow a team member to manage participant data. It is likely that you will assign team members to multiple roles unless you have a very large team with individuals holding narrow responsibilities.

Second, Assessment Center data is segregated into different files. Participants' registration, consent, and assessment responses are stored separately. This means that PHI that is needed for study management (e.g., participant name, contact information for sending study incentive, or endorsement text for an online consent form) are stored in files separated from participants' responses to study items.

Finally, all data collected in Assessment Center including confidential, personal health information is maintained and secured at Northwestern University Research Data Center in Chicago, IL. The following text will provide information about security measures at Northwestern University Research Data Center which ensure all data collected, stored, and maintained in Assessment Center is protected.

We observe high standards of data security practices. Our approach to security consists of a collection of policies, procedures, and practices that are designed to balance the following three characteristics for critical resources: confidentiality, integrity, and availability. Secure communication lines are set in place to prevent the interception of data transmission by utilizing various data encryption technologies, such as Secured Socket Layer (SSL) and digital certificates; signatures may be used to encrypt data, validate data integrity, and authenticate the parties in a transaction. An infrastructure for confidential data management that includes the sophisticated use of firewall technologies, dedicated database and application servers, automatic failover design, real-time monitoring and related technological capabilities has been established.

Comprehensive Information Systems (IS) operating procedures and guidelines which include descriptions of system architecture, delivery platform, data sharing plan, privacy, security and issues of ADA/Accessibility has been developed. Each is presented below in greater detail.

### System Architecture

Our web-based research application, Assessment Center, has been developed using ASP.NET technology in the C# programming language. C# offers rapid development and true object-oriented programming. While C# is a Microsoft proprietary language, Microsoft, HP, and Intel co-sponsored submission of the language specifications to the ECMA for standardization, and is currently ratified under the ECMA-334 standard. It is also ratified under the ISO/IEC 23270 standard.

Centralized databases commonly used in data collection have been constructed using Microsoft SQL Server 2008 R2. Direct data access will be allowed only through views and stored procedures, and all data changes will be logged. In compliance with FDA 21 CFR Part 11, all data will be time-stamped and no data will be overwritten, thus preserving an audit trail. All data transfers will occur through XML files, defined by published XML schemas.

### **Delivery Platform**

The internet will provide the primary delivery platform. Expertise lies with the Microsoft line of software, which will be used to develop the website GUI and backend. Study websites will be accessible only through a SSL encryption layer, ensuring the confidentiality of the data transferred. Study websites will comply with the accessibility guidelines outlined by the World Wide Web Consortium ("Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 1.0" – http://www.w3.org/TR/1999/WAI-WEBCONTENT-19990505/). These guidelines help promote accessibility by people with disabilities. See also "ADA Issues" below.

#### Data Sharing

XML is an industry standard method of data sharing. The application will implement a standard set of XML schemas for data transfer. These XML schemas will be publicly published, outlining the format of the data. The XML files containing the data itself will be encrypted prior to transport.

#### <u>Privacy</u>

HIPAA requirements will drive the privacy of data. The PHI will be stored separately from the individual's other data (e.g., survey responses). Other data associated with an individual will be indexed only by a generic ID. Encryption will also be used wherever data is transferred (SSL for webpages, etc.).

#### <u>Security</u>

The importance for confidentiality of the participant's PHI is recognized. PHI will be collected and transferred only where necessary. Where possible, participants will be identified only by generic ID's. SSL encryption will be used with all internet web pages to ensure confidential form submission. For data files that need to be transferred electronically, the information will be encrypted prior to transport.

The web servers and associated database servers will be housed on dedicated hardware housed at Northwestern University Research Data Center. These will be physically protected from intrusion as well as natural disasters. The secure facilities are protected electronically by hardware and software firewalls, intrusion detection software, antivirus scans, and 24x7 monitoring by onsite professionals.

Northwestern University Research Data Center is completely fitted with redundancy for HVAC, power and fire detection/suppression systems.

#### Redundant HVAC

To provide optimum conditions for equipment operation and minimize downtime due to components overheating, the HVAC system provides appropriate airflow, temperature and humidity. Redundancy features provide additional protection for system operations.

#### Fire Detection and Suppressions

The data centers are equipped with either a Halon or FM-200 fire extinguishing systems. This system provides a highly effective, gas-based method of fire suppression that diminishes the risk of damage to computer equipment and storage media that can result from a water-based system. The data center Halon and FM-200 are maintained under contract with an outside fire systems vendor and are inspected and tested semi-annually.

#### **Flood Control**

The data center is located above ground- with tightly sealed conduits, moisture barriers on exterior walls, and dedicated pump rooms; drainage/evacuation systems; moisture detection sensors.

#### **Earthquake**

The data center adheres to location-specific seismic compliance. Structural systems meet or exceed seismic design requirements of local building codes for lateral seismic design forces. In addition, equipment and nonstructural components, including cabinets, are anchored and braced in accordance with the requirements of the 1997 Uniform Building Code.

#### Data Management Systems Security

All data collected via Assessment Center will be securely stored at the Northwestern University Research Data Center. The following information details how Northwestern University Research Data Center protects its network and all data stored at the Research Data Center. The Assessment Center repository is built using the SQL Server 2008 R2 platform. The data management environment will meet the security requirements identified in the AISSP Handbook. The following text describes the minimum information security systems safeguards at Northwestern University Data Center as required by federal standards to be used for Assessment Center:

- Ensure that a complete and current set of documentation exists for all operating systems: Operating System documentation can be obtained by visiting the Microsoft website: http://www.microsoft.com/windowsserver2008/en/us/product-documentation.aspx. Specific information for supported systems included in a systems profile document is maintained by the System Support team.
- Require use of current passwords and log-on codes to protect sensitive AIS (Automated Information System) data from unauthorized access: All system access requires a user name and password. All users who require anything more than "internet user" security to the Northwestern University campus network must have a unique ID assigned. The Northwestern University ID is used to control access to data files and applications that reside on the network. Every Northwestern University ID is required to have a complex password assigned. Access to Assessment Center is restricted to participants by means of a username and password incorporated within the participant registration process. Because SQL Server 2008 R2 is integrated with Windows, SQL Server and Windows authentication is used to prevent unauthorized access.
- Establish procedures to register and protect secrecy of passwords and log-on codes, including the use of a non-print, non-display feature: Procedures have been established and maintained by Northwestern University to maintain passwords and log in codes. All application and network passwords are non-printing and non-display. User-level access to Assessment Center is maintained by the Assessment Center team.

- Limit the number of unsuccessful attempts to access an AIS or database: Intrusion detection is enabled and will lock out user after 5 unsuccessful logins.
- Develop means whereby the user's authorization can be determined: (This may include answer back capability.) Restriction to Assessment Center involves maintaining an encrypted list of current users and authorizations based on permissions and roles assigned to each user. Northwestern University provides Assessment Center administrators with secure Virtual Private Network (VPN) access. Operating system and database based permissions are set by the Assessment Center administrators.
- Ensure that the operating system contains controls to prevent unauthorized access to the executive or control software system: Root and administrator passwords are limited to authorized Information Systems administrators. User accounts have limited system resource access.
- Ensure that the operating system contains controls that separate user and master modes of operations: Operating Systems in use allow for the separation of different classes of users and administrators.
- Install software feature(s) that will automatically lock out the terminal if it is not used for a predetermined period of lapsed inactive time, and/or if a password is not entered correctly after a specified number of attempts: Standard timeouts for PC access to systems lock after 10 minutes of inactivity for terminals or 30 minutes for an office PC.
- Establish controls over the handling of sensitive data, including labeling materials and controlling the availability and flow of data: The availability and flow of data is limited to the security access identified and signed off by management. The availability and flow of participant data in Assessment Center is controlled by the database administrator who will pre-define security access levels. This will ensure that only data necessary for that individual's work function are viewable. All requests are validated before attempting to submit data to the database. Any internal or stored reference to a participant is accomplished through a unique identifier key. Data is stored and accessed in full compliance with institutional and governmental regulations regarding privacy and security.
- Require that all sensitive material be stored in a secure location when not in use: Sensitive data is stored in the data center. Northwestern University has a secure data center that houses all servers. This center is limited to authorized employees via the use of a card swiping system and biometric reader on the entrance doors. The data center is manned 10 hours a day, 5 days a week, 260 days a year, but access is 24x7 throughout the year.
- Dispose of unneeded sensitive hard copy documents and erase sensitive data from storage media in a manner which will prevent unauthorized use: Unneeded sensitive data on storage media is degaussed from disk drives after the equipment has been taken out of service. This procedure is defined in a best practice document. Sensitive printed information is disposed of through a bonded document destruction service that performs this service on site at a regularly defined basis. Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences has established standard operating procedures relevant to data retention and removal based on NIH data retention requirements. Sensitive participant identifiers of on-going studies are encrypted and kept confidential. This procedure was initially designed to comply with HIPAA requirements. Terminated studies will have all participant identifiers removed from electronic media storage after the retention period. Hard copy documents with participant identifiers will be shredded in a timely manner.

- Prepare and maintain lists of persons authorized to access facilities and AISs processing sensitive data: All authorized employee access ID's are maintained in a secure database for the badge system that secures the Building and Data Center doors. Access to this database is limited to system administrators and is audited on a regular basis. New access requests must be signed off by an IS Director Level or above. Only Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences employees actively participating in the NIH project(s) will have access to the NIH participant data. This is accomplished by system and application level security based on application roles cross referenced with Windows authentication.
- Establish procedures for controlling access to facilities and AISs processing sensitive data: Authorized personnel's visit to the data center is automatically logged by the biometric/key control system. Visitors are required to sign a visitor's log and are required to be escorted whenever they are in the Data Center. Assessment Center is housed in Northwestern University's Data Center.
- Furnish locks and other protective measures on doors and windows to prevent unauthorized access to computer and support areas: The Operations Center has limited access to unauthorized employees via the use of a card swiping system and biometric reader on the entrance doors. The data center is also manned 10 hours a day, 5 days a week, 260 days a year, but access is 24x7 throughout the year. After hour entrance to the building is also on a card swipe system.
- Install emergency (panic) hardware on Emergency Exit doors; ensure that emergency exits are appropriately marked: Panic Hardware is installed on all Emergency Exit doors. All Emergency exits are properly marked.
- Install fire suppression equipment in the computer facility, which may include area sprinkler systems with protected control valves and/or fire extinguishers: Emergency fire suppression equipment is installed in the computer facility and is tested on a periodic basis. Fire extinguishers are located throughout the building and are appropriately marked for easy access.
- Provide emergency power shutdown controls to shut down AIS equipment and air conditioning systems in the event of fire or other emergencies: Emergency Power shutdown controls are located at each entrance to the operations center.
- Establish a fire emergency preparedness plan to include training of fire emergency response teams, development and testing of an evacuation plan, and on-site orientation visits for the local fire department: An Emergency preparedness plan is in affect which include training, evacuation plan, and on site orientation with the local fire department.
- Northwestern University provides comprehensive data backup. All data is stored in a dedicated storage server on top of redundant disk array. A snapshot of the virtual machines is taken every night and stored on backup storage that is alternated every two weeks. A full backup of the database is taken every night with incremental backups taken every two hours.
- Secure communication lines: Communications lines terminate in locked PBX rooms and in the data center. Physical access is limited to secure and authorized personnel.
- Establish Computer Systems Security Plans for sensitive systems: Security plans are in place for secure systems that house sensitive participant and financial data.

- Conduct formal risk analyses: Risk analyses are performed periodically as part of a more comprehensive audit process of the Information Systems department.
- Establish employee security awareness and training programs: Security awareness and training programs are in place. They are included in employee orientation and are included in the Northwestern University's Emergency Response Procedures. In addition, Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences provides its own employees with security training with regards to data collection and storage.
- Maintain accurate inventory of all hardware and software: Computer inventory and software are maintained in both hard copy (paper), spreadsheet and database programs. Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences maintains an inventory management database detailing all hardware, software, and software licenses.
- Establish contingency plan: Contingency plan for disaster recovery is in place.
- Establish emergency power program: The Northwestern University Research Data Center has (2) Uninterruptible Power Supplies and a Diesel generator in the event of a power shutdown. These units are tested on a routine basis.
- Ensure that all personnel positions have been assigned security level designations: Each Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences employee receives a pre-defined data access security designation based on their employment position. The internal security feature of Assessment Center limits these individual's ability to view or access data based on pre-defined roles. For example, only users with the data entry administrator role will have the ability to insert data directly into the repository. No Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences employee, with the exception of the database owner(s), will have the ability to manipulate data directly from the base tables. All data manipulations are conducted through SQL views which are also restricted by means of established data access guidelines. Any transaction made against Assessment Center is captured by means of an audit trail.
- Conduct periodic security level designation reviews: An audit on the database that controls the card swipe system is performed on a routine basis to review appropriate employee access. The results are reviewed by the IS Director. The database administrator conducts similar reviews for Assessment Center and will be responsible for keeping an updated employee list.
- Ensure that all personnel, including contractors, have received appropriate background investigations: All IS employees and contractors have received background investigations. All Northwestern University's Department of Medical Social Sciences employees have had proper background investigations conducted by the human resource department.

#### Acknowledgement of Security Requirements

A detailed outline of our present and proposed Information Technology systems security program are outlined above, and demonstrate compliance with the AISSP security requirements of the Computer Security Act of 1987; Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-130, Appendix III, "Security of Federal Automated Information Systems;" and the DHHSAISSP Handbook at or above the minimum requirements of a Security Level Designation 2 identified in the DHHS AISSP Handbook, Exhibit III-A, Matrix of Minimum Security Safeguards.